A Witness of the Heavenly Realm

Anonymous

Table of Contents

Why Am I Writing This?	3
Note About How the Book Was Assembled	4
The Exceedingly High Mountain	6
The Throne	15
The Garden	56
The Spirit World	78
The Twelve Hierarchy of Angels	88
The Creation	116
The Beginning	129
The Tree of Life	136
The Father	139
The Mother	144
About the Author	149

Why Am I Writing This?

My entire purpose of sharing these experiences is to encourage everyone to seek the same, to stand in the Lord's presence and learn from Him. So much has happened to me since January 18, 2016. Since then I have been able to be with Him many times. Every time I'm in awe, always feeling His love and encouragement. He always tells me the same thing, "Come often, time is short. You must learn as much as you can." Each visit usually lasts about 2 hours and then I spend a couple hours typing up as many details as I can remember.

I have been asked by close friends, "What is it like? Is it as real as you see me now?" Yes, and no, is my answer. It is more real than this, but it is different. I see panoramic, and then up close in vivid detail. It moves in and out from standing before Him to having visions open up to me — His way of communicating what He wants me to see. I see, feel, touch, experience, and ask so many questions. Everything seems predicated upon the questions I ask, so I ponder what I see, then, go back and ask more questions.

Everything is interesting. Everything is available to study. Almost every question is answered. There are so many gaps in the scriptures regarding the heavenly realm, the creation, angels, and the world

of spirits; it is epic in its beauty and magnitude. If you could spend one hour looking into that world, it would change you forever.

A great masterpiece is about to be unveiled to the world, as the Times of the Gentiles reaches its' closing and the Gathering of Israel commences. Now is the time to have your Baptism of Fire, then receive your Second Comforter and experience the mysteries of godliness. Don't let anyone convince you these are not available to you. Grab hold of the iron rod which leads to the Tree of Life; and then "come often." The most epic series of events in the history of the world are about to unfold.

Note About How the Book Was Assembled

This book is not meant to be a literary novel. It was pieced together from many separate experiences I had during the year 2016. I assembled these together pertaining to their subject, so the full vision is not included in most cases. I didn't make any effort to beautify my experiences, but to only explain to the best of my ability what I saw and felt. If the information is contrary to your personal beliefs all I can say is that it is what I saw. You can ask the Lord to sort out the rest for you.

A WARNING:

If you have not read the first book "How to Have Your Second Comforter" please do not read further. The information contained in this short book contains mysteries that will not be helpful for the reader who struggles with the principles contained in the first book. If you have read the first book and are comfortable, this volume will be sweet to the taste, and help in the process of coming to the Lord. It unfolds when you begin to see with an eye of faith.

The Exceedingly High Mountain

There is a place high above the earth where I was taken to prepare me to come into the presence of the Lord. Each time I went there I learned something new about myself, the earth, my mission, and what was yet to come.

There was a man in white with a rounded, close cut beard sitting behind the desk in front of me. His beard was white, his face was full. His clothing was white and angelic, sort of stylized and tailored, without any special embroidery or extravagance.

Everything I was seeing in my mind seemed somewhat clouded, as if I had something in my eyes and I was struggling to open them. I would see clearly and then it would go out of focus.

I asked him who he was and he said his name was Melek. I don't know if I'm spelling it right. The "e" was like the word "eve." He began to smile at me. I never saw his mouth move. I expressed my desire to him to know the Lord and to prepare myself. I asked where I was and was given knowledge that I stood above the United States. I asked more specifically who he was, and was told that he was a messenger and that we had been friends for a long time and had known each other before.

I then was above the earth. I was just above the atmosphere looking down at the blue earth, covered in small patches of clouds. I turned around and seemed to be in a room of glass where the walls and floor were transparent. It was very solid, yet I could see through it. For a moment, I had the strange thought of whether there was dust on the floor, and in an instant I could see very closely that there was not as much as a speck.

I was instantly in the same clear room looking down upon the earth. The clouds were different. I was by myself in the room. I decided to take more time examining the room. There were no lights in it. It was as if all was glass. It was illuminated by the light on the earth. I saw my friend Melek enter in from the left and stand before me again. He smiled and I could really see him more clearly than before. Not exactly how you would picture an angel. He had a pleasant face, white hair, rounded beard. His face was full and his eyes were bright. He seemed to be medium height and build. He said something to me like, "What do you want?"

I said that I wanted to know who I am and what I'm supposed to do?

He smiled and said, "Well, that's up to the Lord." He had an almost humorous tone to his answer, which was communicated to me without him opening his mouth.

I asked, "Can I see Him?"

Melek closed his eyes and looked up. It appeared that he was praying and asking permission. He looked at me and said, "Yes, you can see him." And he smiled.

I first came to the High Mountain. The room was empty and I could see the earth below and the blue atmosphere. I saw Melek walk in, again smiling. I asked him again how we knew each other and he again said that we have known each other from before, but it was not his place to reveal that to me. I said that I had many questions for the Lord. I asked Melek what the purpose of this room was and he told me that this was a place where I could be taught, to learn about the past, the present, and the future. "Should I ask my questions here?" I said. He told me that mostly the Spirit would teach me, and that I could ask the Lord Himself, if I received permission.

Today, after I did my regular prayer routine, I felt I needed to go to the exceedingly high mountain,

-

¹ 1 Nephi 11:1

which is the glass room overlooking the earth. When I arrived, I was alone, and examined the room again, very closely. It is quite simple, a rectangular room with a desk in the center with nothing on it. Below and behind is a panoramic view of the earth, the other direction is the night sky, filled with stars.

Melek entered the room smiling. He always acts calm and unpretentious. I told him that I felt I should come here today; I wasn't sure why. I said I had been told in a previous visit that this place was where I could learn of the past, the present, and the future. Melek confirmed that and asked what I wanted to learn about. I expressed that it seemed I could learn all this when I'm with the Lord too, and Melek said that I was exceedingly blessed to be able to go to Him so often, as others mostly come here.

I expressed my gratitude to Melek for always coming to help me. I asked him again what our relationship was. I said, "You were my brother, weren't you?" He said, "Yes." Melek then explained that he could not elaborate further without permission, but that those things were usually not shared while we experience mortality. He then said some nice things about me, and the importance of my mission. He has a very comfortable way about him. He seems very kind, relaxed, and has a sense of humor. I then began to ask him many questions. I hope I can remember everything.

How do you know when I'm coming here? The Spirit tells us. It's like an alarm of sorts. We know and can even prepare ourselves beforehand. Sometimes we have messengers who tell us.

Do you have places like homes or dwellings? Our dwellings are usually where we do our work. We don't need to sleep, so most of us don't have a home like you would think. Possessions are not important like they are to people on earth. Our glory and gifts are what matter here. You might say the Garden is our own special place. Some day when you are further exalted, your throne will be a special abode of your making. There are exceptions. Some spirits seek out homes in the spirit world; either by lingering in familiar places or finding another, but it is not the same.

Do you eat?

Yes, we can eat and drink. It is a satisfying experience, but although we sense the flavor and joy of consuming it, we do not need the physical nourishment. We ingest light and glory and the food becomes light within us. I thought this was interesting and remembered how I partook of the fruit of the Tree of Life and it tasted so good and the water under the tree was refreshing, but I felt filled immediately and had no impulsion to feed myself, as I was instantly satisfied.

What about clothing?

With light you can create all things. Each of us clothe ourselves as we feel most comfortable. There are no seamstresses in this realm like you would think. Nobody is weaving cloth, except in the Telestial world. At this point I began to study what Melek was wearing. He patiently allowed me to study his robe, even though I didn't ask. It was smooth like the Saviors, like white powder. He too had little symbols that caught the light up and down the hem. There was no seam at the sleeves. He had a rounded collar and a sash. The material looked light, but hung like a heavier material, not clinging to his body. I didn't notice shoes, but I don't think I looked that far down. I saw his face up close. He has a tall forehead, sort of round face and white hair. I asked why he has white hair and other do not. He said we can choose the color that best suits us. That's interesting. His beard kind of rounds over his chin, short mustache and medium length hair. He has a kind smile. I shook his hand at one point and could feel not just the flesh, but an immediate connection with his spirit. I don't know how to explain it.

I asked permission to go to the room and went straight there, seeing myself looking down upon the earth with its curving blue arch and the atmosphere and clouds below me. The room is clear walls and the desk in the center as before. Melek came walking out again, smiling at me. I said hello and ask him how he was doing. It seemed like such familiar talking. I said to him that I missed him and loved him and he replied similarly.

I noticed that it was indeed more difficult than before to see clearly. I would phase in and out as I tried to focus on him and even my questions. I asked Melek if I could ask questions. He said yes and reminded me that I could learn and see the past, present and future here. I could ask any question and if it was the Lord's will I could learn the answer. I had many questions.

As I was about to leave I paused and asked Melek if I could see what was behind the wall or doorway he always enters as he comes into the Room. He smiled and said. "Sure." We walked up and out of the doorway and I was looking down on a great room. We descended into an area where many people seemed busy doing things. Men and women talking and viewing things. I saw most all wearing white or light clothing, different types of styles and period clothing. I can't remember much of any details, as it happened quickly. I remember thinking that I needed to ask and learn more when I come back for a future visit. I was told that this was an area beneath the Room and above the earth. It was what is considered the First Heaven and part of the Spirit World and what I had seen was considered part of the order of Principalities of the Hierarchy of Angels. I have a lot of questions.

I was so happy to come to the Lord this morning. I first went to Melek at the Room and he was nice as he always is to me. I felt so high up looking down on the earth. The Room was so silent, except for the thoughts that went between Melek and me. I told him I had a lot of questions and asked whether I should ask here or go to the Throne. He said that was my choice, so I asked to see the Lord. The next thing I knew I was going up through the portal and after about 20 seconds I saw a bright light.

I first saw the earth from the vantage of the Room. It is blue with the haze of the atmosphere. I wondered, are we are near where satellites cross? It was a strange thought. Melek showed up and was very casual. He said something to me like, "What brings you here?" He was smiling as he faced me. I thanked him and said I had some questions if he was okay with that.

I asked him if he does this for anybody else and he said I was his main one. He's been seen by others, including my wife, but he doesn't visit with others like me. He said there are other people that come to this room though.

I thanked Him. I asked a little about Melek's identity. I asked if he had lived much upon this earth. (Edit) "Were you a Nephite King?" I asked. He said

13

no, but that he had been a ruler among them. I found out early on that there was a Nephite city called Melek, so I wondered if it were related to him. I probably should have asked.

The last thing I asked about was the activities of some of my close relatives. My brother, and my grandparents. I was told that they are all among the Principalities, which is the First Heaven. These are an order of the angels that watches over the House of Israel and the affairs of men. They keep a close eye on the families born under the Covenant and are often close Guardians for loved ones. My brother is very patriotic and keeps a close eye on what is happening in this country. All of them, my grandparents included, are doing much for family on the other side of the veil. I will need to talk with them in person if I want to learn specifics I think.

The Throne

After experiencing the High Mountain, I was allowed to continue forward to where the Lord dwells in everlasting burnings; the Eternal Throne. The power and glory of this place is beyond description. I tried as best I can to describe these experiences so that the reader can envision in their own mind what I saw.

I was afraid and asked, "What am I supposed to do?" I was told to be at peace. It then felt that I was carried through a portal of light going upward very fast. I then came to a place of great brilliance and light and had the impression I was looking upon God's Throne. I felt unworthy and small and was given some kind of garment of light that gave me comfort. I saw hosts of angels and beings of light; some darting across and above me. There was singing, but it was different than what I would expect. More like harmonic tones that seemed to be filled with praise. There was more to that than I understood. It was beautiful and glorious and I would have asked more questions, but my attention was upon the Throne. There was a spinning galaxy of sorts or stars above the throne and it seemed to have multiple levels above and below. My eyes struggled to look upon it. I had the impression that the Adversary was allowed to come and witness

against people at this court, which seemed odd to me. I will need to pray more about this.

The next thing I knew I was traveling up at a high speed. It was the same bright portal from yesterday, but this time it seemed to take longer. I don't know if that is because I was more aware of my surrounding, or that it really did, but it was probably only a few seconds.

I saw myself again at the Throne of God. I saw it a little more clearly this time. I felt more clean than yesterday. I was able to approach closer to the Throne. I don't remember all the words spoken, but I was able to ask my questions of the Savior.

"Lord, I want to know who I am and what thou would have me to do?" He approached me and laid his hand upon my head. I was kneeling. (Edit)

It was not a solemn experience. Jesus was smiling much and very encouraging. I felt His love and confidence in me.

I asked the Lord if I could come to Him and he said, "Come forth!" I saw myself rising through the portal of light. It seemed to take even longer than normal. I found myself, instead of the Garden, at His Glorious Throne. I took a few steps and was met by

an angel I had not seen before. He greeted me and called me a name I had not heard before. "Greetings (Edit)," he said. I asked what that meant and he said I was holy and clean before the Lord. I looked at myself for the first time and saw I was wearing white clothing, like the angels. It sparkled with light. I asked him his name and it was Jamon. I was beckoned to come with him and we stood off to the right side of the Throne, perhaps 50 yards' distance and sang and praised the Lord together. Our hands were outstretched, palms out, facing the Throne, as we spoke in a tongue I didn't know, while in song, followed by the harmonics I have talked about before. I felt great glory and love as I did this. I felt that the Lord was inside of me.

I could see the Lord in the distance sitting upon His Magnificent Throne. It is gold and white and reaches high above Him. Everything is white and glorious and a feeling of love and glory pulsates and vibrates and envelopes everything. I asked, "Lord, may I come to thee?" He said, "Yes."

He sat on His Throne and smiled down upon me. I expressed my love for Him and my gratitude for the time He's given me these last few days. He was smiling and I could feel His love, although we were not touching this time. I asked Him how He is able to take time for me when there is so much else of importance and so many others He communes with? He said that He is able to commune with all

things by His glory and that it is His great joy to do so. He said, "I am that I am." It was confusing at first, but His thoughts to me seemed to say, "I am here, because I am able."

From here I went straight to my questions.

I asked the Lord why it wasn't in the Garden and was told that my first introduction to Him was in the Throne and then we went to the Garden. This is the pattern for us. The Garden is His footstool. All things are to be done in order. O, how grateful and overwhelmed I feel. The Almighty God of Heaven has heard my prayers!

We then began the ascension in the tunnel of light or portal and entered the Throne area. My wife said she saw a bright light and then found her way, but couldn't see anymore. I was praising God with the angels as I had experienced before waiting for her to tell me I could come and be with her, as this was her experience with the Lord.

After the normal time of Sacrament, and introductory prayer, I asked the Lord if I could come to Him. I was told to come forth, and with that I saw myself again ascending through the portal of light. Each day I experience things anew I try to seek out

with my mind the details more clearly of what is around me. This seems to clear the veil more so that I can perceive my surroundings better. I noticed that the vortex or portal is like a cloud of light spinning. It is filled with life and goes as quickly or slowly as our thoughts allow. I saw myself, as if looking at myself going through the portal. It's as if I can be outside myself and see anything. I moved forward and then I had the funny feeling to do a Superman pose, which I did for a second, and then felt embarrassed and relaxed as I came out the other end of the portal.

I stood again at the Throne or Court of the Most High. I was surrounded by many Angels facing me and recognizing me. Some called me (Edit) and other names I cannot remember. They were smiling and welcoming. It was the same Throne I had seen before. I asked the Lord if I could ask some questions regarding my wife and her experience that morning. I had a conversation from which I was told the following:

As I approached the Lord at His throne, He was there smiling down upon me a little higher than me as He sat upon His Throne chair. I wanted to look upon Him closely and as I searched I was able to "see" more clearly and see the fine detail and symbols that are engraved upon His robe. I saw symbols of interlocking circles and squares up and down the

hem of the robe and on His collar. He wore a golden sash with more symbols. He had a crown upon his head, but I only saw it when I looked for it. He was very bright and the cloth didn't have seems or thread texture, but smooth like powder white and bright. I studied His countenance and He seemed pleased that I was doing this, as a father would be pleased when a toddler touches His face and studies up close for the first time. I asked if Mary, his wife was here, and I perceived her Throne chair to His left, just within reaching distance and He held her hand. She wore similar robes and was so beautiful. Her hair seemed to be dark black and her face was oval. She looked toward Him and then at me. I asked if I should call her Mother and Yeshua said, "No, she is the Mother of Creation, and your Mother is the Holy Mother with Father. But, I felt her compassion and love for me too. There seemed to be similar symbols on the Throne in which they sat, but I didn't take time to study that.

I came through the portal and was standing in the Throne Realm. I stood next to a beautiful angel who acknowledged me, as we raised our hands and praised the Lord for a short while, then I asked if I could come to the Lord. I stood before Him and marveled at His beauty. He was the same as before, but this time I begin to study the intricate sculpture of the Throne. I saw two large lions heads where he places His hands upon the arm of the Throne chair.

They seem to be a mixture of gold and white; very brilliant. There are patterns in the wall or back of the Throne chair that seem to move or change. Mostly geometric patterns. I noticed Mary sitting beside Him. They are both equal in light and wear very white robes. I communicate with the Lord through thought; as we talk He does not move His mouth. He is always joyful or smiling, as is Mary.

I sensed darkness for a moment and was confused. I asked the Lord, and was shown that a servant of Satan had entered the Throne to make accusations against a son of the light. His white robe seemed grey and flat and his eyes were dim, and his glory seemed so pale compared to all else. I could sense great bitterness in him. I felt pity as I looked at him and then he was gone.

I asked the Lord if I could inquire about things from yesterday and He joyfully agreed to all my questions.

I saw myself going through the portal of light. There is no sound, except a small warm breeze. When I entered the Throne an angel came to me and touched my right leg. I don't know why. I began to walk toward where God was. I noticed the ground had no stairs, but was like a sloping hill going upward. It seemed to be paved with gold. Every angel there, and there seemed to be more than I

could count, were all wearing white. I was told that in the Throne room all must wear white. It made me think of the temple. Then I was not walking, but swiftly moving to the feet of my Savior.

He sat in His Throne chair with Mary by His side, but I focused on Him. I kind of apologized for coming again, that I just wanted to be with Him and expressed my love. He smiled and said He always had time for me, but that I could make best use of my time if I always asked some question.

I immediately thought of a question, but was embarrassed to ask. He perceived my thoughts. I wanted to know how he shaves, or if he ever doesn't have a beard? He showed me without a beard as He passed His hand across His face, and with a heavier beard as His hand passed over His face again, but that He prefers it just a little shorter, and it was back as it was before. I saw His face and hair. He was smiling and enjoying the conversation. He can change his beard length just by wishing it so.

I then was on a roll, so I started asking more questions. What is the meaning of the symbols on His clothing and the Throne around Him? He said they were symbols of eternal glory and redemption and that they were special to Him. It was sacred geometry. I saw the lion faces and paws on the front of the Throne chair and was shown that the lion is a

sacred animal and is symbolic of His stature as a King of Israel.

I said, "Lord, thou art too merciful to me! Every time I ask, thou givest unto me according to my desire. Why art thou so merciful?" He said He loved me and I will have what I need. He seemed pleased to hear me say this and expressed to me that He has joy in blessing me. He then said I should go now and write, but come again and ask more. Always more. I now have a list of questions to ask.

What resides on the rest of the space where the Throne is located? When this question came to my mind I was bewildered. The area that composed the Lord's Throne seemed to be only several hundred square yards from what I could see, not that it is not infinitely larger than that, but this was my sense.

Answer: This is the sphere in which all exalted beings perform the work of the Great Jehovah. There are many levels or dimensions and many thrones. Within the Father's house are many mansions and He prepares a place for us. I was shown during my vision today that Jesus was able to design His own Throne, as He wishes, and can create or change it at will. The entire sphere is a sea of glass of eternal light, truth and glory.

23

I saw Him at His throne and asked Him a few questions. "Lord, where are the women? I see few women.

I saw that the women and men were divided in the Throne room or area. The women stood and praised on the right side, or His left, same side as Mary and the Men were on the other side except the entrance to the Throne, which was where I saw male cherubim guarding the entrance. There is certainly order in these things.

After this I went through the portal and was at the Throne. I was greeted by a familiar angel who again called me, (Edit.) Then another called me (Edit). My brother² was there and hugged me and said some nice words of support and encouragement. I went to the Throne where the Lord sat and I expressed my love and gratitude as He smiled at me. I wish I could remember the conversation with exactness, because it was so beautiful the way He spoke. He told me that He always had time for me to teach me and answer questions. It was important for my calling. He was pleased that I came so often and implied that I should continue to do this. I said I had questions.

I asked about the 24 Elders spoken in the Book of Revelation.³ I have been a little confused, as I didn't

_

² My brother who had passed away many years ago.

³ Revelation 4:8, 5:7, 11:2, 19:3

understand their place in the Kingdom. When I did the spiritual translation of the Book of Revelation I was told to refer to them as the Noble and Great Ones, but when I prayed today it was explained to me more specifically that these are the twelve couples who administer over the twelve hierarchies of angels. They are arch angels and are very close to the family of God and also condescend in mortality for the Lord's purposes. There is still much there I do not understand.

I again was moving through the portal. When I entered the Throne room it was very bright. An angel, again, threw some form of light upon me and called me a name I cannot remember. I stood with him for a short time and raised my hands up to praise the Lord. We sang the harmonics and my soul was filled with light and glory and joy. I asked if I could come to my Lord.

Immediately I was standing before Him again. He sat in His magnificent chair of white and gold. It was as I remembered it before. I smiled as He looked at me. I started to speak my love and praise for Him. It was all I could do. It's been more than a week since I've been back to Him. I told Him I had questions and He said I could ask.

25

I was awoken this morning by a voice of a woman. It was so mild and comforting, very angelic in the sound, as she called my name. I asked the Lord who it was and was told it was a Seraphim or messenger from the Most High sent to awaken me. I needed to come to the Lord this morning. It has been over a week since my last visit. Today would be important.

I asked if I could come to the Lord and was given an affirmative. I saw myself ascending through the portal. I came out into the light and was met by a large angel again. He greeted me with the name (Edit), which I still do not understand. I saw the same things I normally see, many angels with hands outstretched praising God, in the distance is His Throne. I was told to come to Him.

The Lord was sitting in His great chair and smiling at me. I expressed my love for Him and desire to be with Him and that I had many questions. He stood and we talked much. I asked who the woman was that came to me and was told her name was Sepporah. I can't remember what else I was told about that.

When I was coming through the white portal after being given permission it took longer than normal. I kept thinking about the questions I wanted to ask the Lord instead of focusing on the portal and it slowed me down. I shook it off and entered the Throne. It was very bright, the same as before. I saw the many angels in white singing harmonics with arms raised. It seems strange, but I only feel great love, glory and harmony when I look upon those who are praising. I saw the Lord sitting at His Glorious Throne as before. I had so many questions I felt it would be good to talk with Him in the Garden.

At the Throne I came to the Lord and He smiled. I could see His face clearly and the beautiful whiteness and brilliance that surrounds Him. He stood and held my arm as He looked at me. I was trying to express my love and gratefulness and he quickly interjected to say how much He loved me and was glad that I was coming so much and learning as I am. He emphasized that I should come often, even every day if I may. He said I would be blessed. He said there was much to learn and little time. I asked the Lord why I did not have the sealing power. There is so much I could do to help others. He said that my job now was to learn as much as possible and that when the sealing power was given that it would be a full-time endeavor using it. All things must be done in order.

He then did something different than before. He locked arms with me and said, "Come, walk with me." We walked out the right side of the Throne and

toward an exit of sorts. If we were facing the Throne it was on the right side. It then got darker like we descended into an area of space. He said. "What do you see?" I looked and for a moment saw nothing. I relaxed and saw what appeared like a dark brown mountain area, like a gigantic rock. I didn't understand. It was dark, desolate, and uninviting. Again, He said, what do you see? I looked and another vision opened up where I saw a burst of bright and colorful light illuminating a crystal-like castle on a beautiful landscape. It was night and day different from the dark place. He said something like, "One is the glory of the Adversary and the other the glory of the Son. I wish I could remember everything He spoke about it. I saw a lot of planets and suns and wondered about the Lord's creations.

I told the Lord I had many questions. He smiled and waited for me to ask. "Lord, can I learn more about your Throne?" I then saw the area from above looking down, like a bird's eye view. It was a vast area. His Throne was tall and had the high, beautiful throne chairs for Him and Mary. He said He was always there, judging and blessing. There were many angels of all kinds, all dressed in white. (a requirement to be there) It was shown to me that they go to receive glory and light or knowledge from God. It fills their bucket, if you could call it that. It gives the Lord great joy to be at His Throne. I saw that there were at least four Cherubim awaiting arrivals at the gate, which is like a portal. The

women stand on the right facing the Throne and the men on the left, opposite of the endowment in the LDS temple. The women are on the same side as Mary. There are couples in the outside areas and others beings. You can see stars and swirling colors of light above, like a galaxy, but a little different. I saw that behind the Throne and on a lower level area was the Tree of Life. It is the most beautiful tree I have ever seen. It has a wide trunk and branches, all gold, even the leaves, and the white husk covered fruit. A clear stream runs out from under it. It is surrounded by a beautiful garden, like the Garden I go to, but I think this is the Savior's private Garden. His mansion is further back. It is His actual house, or one of His abodes. The Throne planet is enormous beyond comprehension and the Lord said there are many God's which rule over their own dominions. I asked about these planets and was told they are the greatest in this realm, they are ancient and glorious and righteous to perfection.

I asked a curious question I had. It appears that the Lord can split himself, His spirit to be in more than one place at a time. He said this is true. He explained that I am capable of splitting myself, in a manner of speaking. My spirit is in my body sitting in the closet, and yet I am with the Lord at His Throne. Both are tangible and real and I can feel my hand on the carpet, and at the same time be focusing on the Lord's face. He explained that when one receives

the Patriarchal Priesthood,⁴ they can judge and bless without restriction all of their creation, they are omnipresent and omnipotent, they see all and can be with all as they require. The Lord said that at this moment I am with Him and He with me and we are one in thought and purpose, and yet He sits on His Throne and watches all His creation. He has a fullness of joy.

I asked about the Book of Enoch. Today I felt impressed that I need to read and study its contents to prepare for my next visit with the Lord, which purpose is to learn about the Spirit World and the complexities of the Kingdom of the Adversary. I feel I need to know all this to better do my work. I don't know why, we'll see.

Just when I thought I had my fill of a great vision from the Lord, He opened up more for me. I asked where He kept the chariots? He said that every solar system has a sun, which is a Celestial orb, not as glorious as the Throne planet or Kolob, but where the chariots and other angels reside. I guess I'll be

.

⁴ This Patriarchal priesthood gives the holder full power to create both worlds and children in Heaven, under the direction of the Great Jehovah and Elohim. The temple signs and tokens teach great truths regarding this patriarchal order. Only a small portion of its truth has been revealed, but a fuller measure shall be given after the world is cleansed.

learning more about that next week. I need to ask the actual name of the Throne planet.

I came to the Lord at His Throne again. It was vivid and glorious; so, bright and clear. So many angels singing in unison in harmonic tones, it is amazing to behold. When I came to the Lord He immediately stood to greet me. He smiled enthusiastically. We spoke for a short while about how happy and grateful I am to have this opportunity to learn and come. He makes me feel loved and welcome. I said to the Lord that I only wanted to do His will, to be His son and servant. That I would die for Him and do all that He asks. I said I had questions today and would be willing to receive whatever He gives me. He smiled.

I asked to see Mary, His wife. I said I wanted to know her better. She immediately stepped forth and smiled upon me. I have never seen her except in vision or sitting upon Her Throne chair. She is so beautiful, but I don't know if that is the right word for it. The amount of love that she exudes is overwhelming. She wore clothing very similar to the Lord's robes. Her hair is black, but it has a softness to it. Like it glistened silver. Her smile and eyes are soft and loving. There are no signs of makeup, obviously, but her face has such a natural beauty. It reminded me of Heavenly Mother's face somewhat.

I hugged her and felt the tears begin to well in my eyes. I felt so much love!

I held her hands as I expressed my love for her and desire to know her better. I asked if I should call her Mary or Mother? I had been told by the Lord that she was not "The Mother." That was Heavenly Mother, but that she is the Mother of Creation. (Edit) She confirmed that this is true and she loves me so dearly. Her love for my wife is deep as well. She said I could call her Mother, and she smiled.

I asked if I could learn more about her life. She said that not too long after Jesus had been taken that she left Jerusalem, because of safety issues. Mary, Jesus' mother stayed, but she and the other children were taken by John and Joseph of Arimathea to France. She lived out her life there. John returned to the Apostles. Her one son was killed in his early twenties and the other brother and sister married, had children and migrated northward. She lived to an older age before she passed. I know there are many stories and experiences she has and I will need to ask her about those in the future.

I asked her what she does now and was told that her time is spent with creation. She is involved much with the Sisters and other acts of creating beauty and life. Her influence is felt over all of these. I am so amazed at the love that comes from her. My eyes were filled with tears through the whole experience.

I ascended in the portal and entered the Throne. I was met by two angels who greeted me by the name (Edit). I asked if we knew each other and they said we did, that we were brothers. I don't know exactly what they mean.

I looked around and saw the angels singing the harmonics and the beautiful white Throne that reaches up high to the heavens and stars above. I can definitely tell a difference when I take my time verses coming quickly. Not that yesterday was any less detailed, but I seemed to be able to see and experience more.

I came to the Lord and He stood and we talked. I love Him so much. I hope I can remember everything. I asked again what my name means. (Edit)

I am learning much this week. I came to the Lord. I was met at the gate to the Throne by an angel after passing through the portal. His name was Gidgidoni and he called me (Edit). He smiled and said the Lord was waiting for me. I passed the many angels praising and I heard their harmonics. I had an especially good prayer with tongues today and the words flowed very well. It felt holy to me. I felt this way as I heard the harmonic praising.

33

Everything was so white. The Lord was sitting upon His throne chair and I could see Mary at His side. They smiled and I could feel pure joy emanating from them. I kind of looked around for a little while at the Throne and again noticed the lion shapes in the chair. It is white and gold somehow mixed together. Behind the tall Throne chairs are beautiful symbols. The most prominent symbol I see is high above the Throne. It looks like a rose and reminds me of the symbol of the path of Venus. I also noticed the moving shapes, circles and squares and other symbols too. ⁵ It is amazing and so white.

I was just about to ask the Lord if He would spend some time with me, when he suddenly arose and put forth His arm. "What shall we do today?" He said. I said something like, "Is there anything you would like to show me?"

We went below the Throne. I don't know how much lower it is, but there is the beautiful Tree of Life as I have seen before. It is so beautiful. The Lord said this is His own garden and we walked around for a bit. I saw interesting designs of flower beds that seemed to build on top of each other. It was like my Garden, but more spread out. I could see His large white pillar house in the distance. I said, "Lord, is that where you go? Is that your house?" He said it was. I asked if I could go there. He smiled and said sure. It is a place where He sometimes goes with Mary and

_

⁵ A Witness of the Life of Christ, Anonymous, pg. 28

others. When we walked into the building I somehow felt I was in His private place. I saw a couch with deep purple cushions. It was incredibly beautiful. I saw sculpture and art. The sculpture was magnificent and rivaled anything I had seen on earth. I saw some furnishings, but it was more like a comfortable museum with sitting areas than a house like we have. Everything was so bright and beautiful.

I thanked the Lord for another wonderful experience learning from Him. The Lord said the purpose was that I would someday teach these things (Edit). I saw Him lean over to His left again and pick a rose. He tossed the rose to me quickly and I saw it spray out like a burst of light and go into my body. I felt love and beauty. He smiled as if it was some kind of happy trick. He was so delightful and I thanked Him again.

I was met by a familiar angel, Gidgidoni. He smiled and greeted me with a bow. He said, "Hello brother, (Edit)!" I asked, "Were we brothers?" He smiled, "Yes, in another life." I asked an amusing question, "Why do you have white hair?" He laughed and said, "Most all the Cherubim have white hair, it's our custom." I mentioned that Gabriel had reddish hair. He laughed again and said, "Yes, that's Gabriel." (I'm trying to remember this conversation as best I can.)

I was looking around, from the entrance to the Throne where the Cherubim stood. I saw three particular angels who were facing me. The one was Gidgidoni. I looked around as before to see numberless angels all facing the Throne with arms raised and palms out praising God. I heard the beautiful harmonic tones sung by the angels. So much light! I stood marveling at the scene when I heard my wife's voice, "(Edit), I'm with the Lord." I asked, "Where are you?" She said, "At the Garden."

I came to the Lord as I normally do. I love Him so much. I noticed that I had a hard time focusing. I don't know if it was because of my physical body, the distractions? I would see clearly, then it would blur, then sometimes I would black out and have to come back and He would be smiling, waiting patiently.

The Throne was brilliant as I approached. I was in such a hurry that I forgot to take the time to bathe in light and do that part of my prayer as I normally do. As I approached the doorway that opens to the Throne I felt incredible light gather around me. It was truly a bathing experience that came in a way I was not familiar with. When I could see there were three angels welcoming me. I noticed many dressed in white with hands raised singing and praising. I noticed some men and women on my left side, but only women on my right. I wondered if those on my

left were couples. In the past I was shown that women are on the side of Mary and men on the side of the Lord, with couples above. So, I don't know what it means. I noticed the star-like forms above me and light flashing across above. The Throne is radiant and I made my way towards it, slowly at first, and then I was right there.

I saw my beautiful Lord sitting. He smiled at me and stood. I was in some kind of room, although I was still in the Throne. It seemed private, yet connected. I thanked the Lord as I usually do for taking time with me, my gratitude and love for Him. He always reminds me that He is pleased that I come and I should ask many questions. This is good, because I have many today.

As I started my holy time, I took the Sacrament and asked for forgiveness. I bathed in the light and it felt very tangible and alive around me. I had thoughts for how I might be able to teach this principle to others in the future. I praised my Lord and prayed and sang in tongues. I heard His voice speaking to me from time to time during this part of my preparations.

When I came to Him it was as usual, but I can't imagine ever getting used to this. I feel comfortable because of the familiarity, but I must grip myself thinking what I am doing. He always reminds me

that time is short. I must learn as much as I can that I will be prepared to teach when the time comes.

Today the Lord taught me much by having visions open up while I was with Him. He smiles and looks at me with His piercing eyes of heaven's blue. His smile is soft and His hair a deep red brown. His clothing is radiant white and soft. His arms and hands are strong and yet gentle. He is glorious.

I asked if there were many coming to Him like me. He said there were beginning to be more. I asked about (Edit) and the Lord acknowledged him. He said (Edit) learns different than me. That he focuses on the glory of the Kingdom. He asks questions about things he's learned in science and the Bible. My questions are different than his, based on my own interests. This is good. We learn at the rate in which we ask questions. This is an eternal principle.

I approached the Throne. It is brilliant white with many symbols. I noticed the rose symbol above. The Lord is so filled with light. He smiles upon me and rises from his chair to hold my arm. He is so warm and comfortable as He looks at me with anticipation. "I'm glad you are here. Do you have questions?" He said. "I have so many questions, Lord."

⁶ They seem to be all colors, but predominantly blue.

When I came to the Throne I was met by two angels smiling. One spoke and called me by the name they usually do. I looked around and noticed what seemed like thousands of angels all singing the harmonics. I moved toward the Lord, but I looked back at the entrance. It seemed like a large open portal of light. I saw people coming in and the angels throwing what seemed like a bucket of light over them.⁷ I know that's not what it was, but it was difficult to understand. I will need to go back and see that more closely in the future.

I approached the Lord. He stood and smiled as He held my arm. I hugged Him and looked into His eyes. I usually express my love and gratitude and He seems so calm, gentle, and eager to help me learn. He knew what I wanted to learn about before I even got there.

-

Enoch 2:8-9 Pseudepigrapha

⁷ Isaiah 6:5-6,

[&]quot;And the Lord said to Michael: Go and take Enoch from out (of) his earthly garments, and anoint him with my sweet ointment, and put him into the garments of My glory. And Michael did thus, as the Lord told him. He anointed me, and dressed me, and the appearance of that ointment is more than the great light, and his ointment is like sweet dew, and its smell mild, shining like the sun's ray, and I looked at myself, and (I) was like (transfigured) one of his glorious ones."

I didn't want to leave the Lord. I wanted to stick around and ask Him more questions even though I knew my time was short. I asked him about Mary, his Helpmeet. I wanted to understand her role more. The Lord said, "You should talk with her about that." And He smiled as she approached.

Mary's hair is black brown and her smile so lovely. She looked at me with great love and compassion. I felt it deeply. She was dressed kind of similar to the Lord, but feminine. I called her mother and expressed my love to her. (Edit) She said that she is always with the Lord her Helpmeet and her role is to nurture and love all that come into their presence, when it is right. I felt so much peace and love in her presence.

I then asked the Lord, "Is it ever permissible for me to see what you experience through your eyes?" I know you're dealing with a lot more than me right now." He smiled widely with a sort of twinkle in His eyes and said "Yes!" I saw myself sitting next to Him somehow on His Throne. At first I saw what seemed like a fast-moving parade of spirits approaching His throne. Many with bad spirits condemning and Him passing judgment. I saw Him spending time with Mary, Father, Mother, going to other worlds; all kinds of things. It started to speed up and was like shuffling images before my mind. Each was an independent reality and each was clear, but separate. As it sped up I kind of backed out and said

it was enough. It sounds crazy, but it was so peaceful and joyful. I never thought anything that fast could be so peaceful and wonderful. It kind of hurt my brain though, I think. Wow!

I came to the Throne and He greeted me with an embrace. He's a little taller than me and He leaned forward until our heads met and touched. Then He backed up slightly and looked into my eyes. His eyes are so clear and filled with light. He smiles and His countenance radiates with light and love. I can feel it so intensely. I held his arms. I can feel the strength and yet the soft texture of His garment. I smell a rose like smell that is so soothing and beautiful. But there is nothing feminine about Him, or at least I don't get that impression. It just smells and feels clean and holy.

I said, "Lord I'm here to learn more. There is so much I need to learn." He smiled and spoke, "That is why you are here. You must prepare so that you can teach and help others to come to me." I then had a vision open up where I was speaking to many people and walking them through the process of seeing with and eye of faith. I was teaching them the divine power of the imagination to help open their

.

⁸ D&C 124:99 "And he shall be led in paths where the poisonous serpent cannot lay hold upon his heel, and he shall mount up in the imagination of his thoughts as upon eagles' wings."

spiritual eyes. I saw the logic and process of teaching others. It was amazing. I believe that will be part of what I will do in the future.

I looked at the Lord intently. What else should I learn about. He smiled and kind of laughed and said, "Follow me!" He turned and kind of started jogging away from me. I seemed to be following him as we moved through things. We came to his home, the place I had been before which was below the Throne and had all the sculpture. I was standing looking at the huge white sculpture in His house. At the pinnacle was an image of Mary holding a sword. She had a veil over her head with her face exposed. She looked strong and heroic. The Lord suggested I back up so I could see the entire sculpture. I saw different people, men, women and children, all winding and in action around the masterwork. It became hard to focus, but I think I got sort of an idea what I was looking at. It was a Michelangelo masterwork. The marble (which is what it reminded me of) was polished and white. The Lord said that it was the holy family and those to whom he was the closest. It was spectacularly beautiful.

I saw everything as I normally do. Things seemed brighter than normal. I approached the Lord and He came to me. I hugged Him and held His arm. I told Him how I was surprised how quickly I had come and He complimented me and said, "Good, this means

you can come more often." He talked with me briefly then put his arm over my shoulder and said, "Walk with me."

We walked out to a portico of white beautiful marble looking columns, and then into a garden just to the right of facing the Throne. It went straight out and seemed to go on for a long distance. We moved swiftly to a place He wanted to show me. It appeared to be an extension of the Gardens that were around the outside and lower part of the Throne. Just outside the portico surrounded by these beautiful "golden" gardens of various colored flowers are magnificent sculptures. Each stands independent of the rest. We stopped at one of these and He said, "These are my great ones who have served in my Father's Kingdom to save the souls of men."

I said I had many questions. I was curious about the Throne planet where we were. Where does Father dwell? Where is His Throne, because it seemed different when I was there? The Lord said that it is separated from Him by a firmament and is also guarded. It is above the Throne planet like Paradise or the First Heaven is above the earth. He said that The Great Jehovah and Elohim abide in an exalted

.

⁹ The Lord delights in art. I've seen much in the Heavenly Realm, and some are by the great masters who have lived on earth.

galaxy above ours that is separated by a veil and a firmament too.

I wanted to know more about Mary. The Lord has already shown me so much, but I feel I needed to learn more. He spoke of her nobility and equality as His Helpmeet since the beginning of this earth and before. He said that her role is to help him perform His mission, which requires her to often suffer great hardship during and after He is gone. I was shown the great statue again in the house below the Throne. I saw the sword she carries [made of] white stone and was told it was the sword of truth which bears witness of all that God has done for His people. Mary has pure love and charity for all. She suffered the despair of every man, woman, and child in Gethsemane that she could have perfect empathy. ¹⁰

So, this morning, repentantly, I came to the Lord once again. I entered at the gate and was greeted by a glorious white angel with shoulder length white hair. He gestured with his arm for me to go forth to the Lord. I passed many angels in white, with arms outstretched worshiping the Lord. I saw the glorious white Throne and the throne chair adorned with carved heads of white lions. He sat, surrounded by great glory, looking at me, smiling, His eyes filled

.

¹⁰ A Witness of the Life of Christ, Anonymous, pg. 50-52

with light and beauty. I felt so insignificant and ashamed.

He effortlessly came forward to me and grasped my arm, smiling, my heart leaped as I felt the tremendous love and interest He had in me. I said I was sorry I had taken so long to come again. He indicated that although it was not good to wait, he understood and even expected as much. He reminded me again that time was short and I need to learn as much as possible.

I stood and examined Him with my eyes, moving across His glorious robes, His hands, His hair and beard, His eyes. It was like I was taking it all in again. He smiled the entire time and seemed to have no urgency or desire for me to hurry.

I asked about using the name Yahweh. I reminded the Lord how I heard Him use the word when he came to Abraham when he was about to be sacrificed to the priest of Elkenah. The Lord said that it is the name of Creation and He will use it to announce His presence on special occasions. It is the word used when God goes into the darkness to call the intelligence together. It is a holy name and is best not used by mortals, but reserved for God himself to use. The early prophets understood this. But most who do use it say the word improperly, so it is of no consequence. If used inappropriately in

can bring a curse upon the user. I will need to ask about that another time.

I came to the Lord. The gate to the Throne seemed much brighter than normal. Perhaps it was my spiritual eyes. I noticed the angels praising, their arms moving back and forth slowly, men on one side and women on the other. The Throne is glorious, like brilliant white crystal with light and gold. The Lord sits on His Throne with Mary equally sitting in her great chair to His left. I felt to go to my knees. He smiled, stood up and took me by the arm. I expressed my deepest love and gratitude. He continues to smile.

I saw all the things I normally see. I approached the Throne, but when I came to the Lord my attention went to Mary sitting beside Him. I looked upon her and began to praise her and express my deep love and admiration. She is as incredible and glorious as the Lord. I asked her why I do not interact with her more. She said she loved me and that she and the Lord speak of me and my wife. Her role is to help the sisters prepare for their divine purpose. There were more things said, but I cannot remember.

I asked the Lord about one of the last times where he tossed a rose to me as I was leaving and it sprayed into light as it entered my heart. I felt love and beauty. I asked Him why this happened. He said that He often uses special flowers to share His love and light with others. It doesn't harm the flower plant and gives them great joy when He uses their blossoms this way. The different blossoms express different types of blessings. He said they also use jewels and create all kinds of gifts from them to bestow upon His children. These are given to us and either worn by our spirits, stored in a special treasury, or absorbed into our hearts. Beauty and love are the most common expressions of these gifts. Some have profound spiritual meaning.

I came to the Lord and He took me below the Throne to His Garden where we walked together and talked. I saw the Tree of Life. It's bark almost has the appearance of gold and its leaves are gold. I saw the water proceeding out from under it. I saw the multitier garden along the path. There is an open grassy hill area that spreads out for quite a distance, and then his house, which is similar to a large structure with large pillars; very white. I saw two large lions playing together and rolling in the grass. In the distance were horses moving around, but they were not like typical horses. These were so beautiful, with long manes. It was certainly surreal to watch. I held His arms and looked at Him intently.

I asked about the white marble I seemed to see, which was the stonework of the Lord's House and

statuary. The Lord said it looks like marble, but is more eternal and refined. If it existed on the earth it would defy description.

Is there real water in the Garden? I remember seeing water with fish and even water coming out from under Throne by the Tree of Life. The Lord said it was the Water of Life; it is not the same kind of water I am familiar with, but feels like water.

I asked how we get our clothing in Heaven. He said that our spirit is accustomed to wearing clothing and we come forth clothed, but we can change it at will. I asked to see myself in the spirit and saw myself, like looking in a mirror. I looked young, dark hair. It looked like me, but my face was shaped a little different. My hair is really dark, almost black.

I asked the Lord if time moves faster in the heavenly realm. He said that the past, present, and future are always in play. The present moves at a regular pace, but time is measured different depending upon where you are, so, it really is not important.

When I ascended, I came through the gate and there was a flash of intense light. I was looking down at my feet, looked up and saw an angel to my right. He called me (Edit) and welcomed me. I went straight to the Lord at His Throne. The sky had swirling stars

48

of a sort above us.¹¹ Everything is so bright and glorious, like lightning and fire, but not threatening. Very comfortable and joyful. Hard to explain.

I held the Lord's hands and looked at Him as He smiled back at me. Sometimes I just want to experience Him for a minute. He seems so patient and willing to wait for me. I looked at His hands, and I saw the marks again. I noticed His clothing, its smooth texture, whiteness, and subtle markings of circles and squares. There is probably more there if I really search. His face is clear and healthy with radiant eyes and smile. His hair is beautiful and smooth. His hair is a dark reddish brown. His eyes are like a myriad of different blues or colors. There is an intensity to His face yet it is so gentle, loving, and almost boyish. But, at the same time He is masculine. I don't know if I'm doing a good job explaining this.

I did my normal preparations to come to the Lord. I could hear His voice very clearly in my mind as I would pray and ask and praise Him. As clear as any sound. When I came to the gate the light was almost blinding. I saw several Cherubim this time greeting

¹¹ As I was leaving I asked the Lord about the stars and planets I saw above His Throne. He said they were His creations, which are always before Him. This made perfect sense to me. (March 30, 2017)

me and calling me both (Edit). I slowly started ascending the hill toward the Throne looking at the angels to my left and then my right. I came quickly to the Lord and gazed upon Him. He stood and took my arm. We stood a short distance away and began to talk. I expressed my love and He said He loved me and was so pleased that I came. I held His hands and hugged Him. I can feel the strength of his shoulders.

When the Lord said to come forth I saw the swirling portal. I noticed how its arms swirl counter clockwise. For the first time, I wondered, "Why does it do that?" The Lord called it a funnel of light, which makes sense to me. When I came through the gate I saw the Cherubim there, welcoming me in. I turned back and looked where I had come. I saw two large pillars with a pediment above. There was only light from whence I came. I noticed other gates, wider ones, back and behind this gate, all converging on the Throne.

As I approached the Lord I noticed other beings of light standing before Him. I hadn't noticed that before. I was hesitant to interrupt, I moved forward and to the side shyly. The Lord came over to me and I didn't notice the other beings anymore. He said that He always has visitors, day and night. I think that is an expression, because I don't believe there is night in this realm.

It feels like a long time since I came to Him. I noticed an interesting thing; for the first time in a long time a garment of light was thrown over me as I entered the Throne. The entire vision was extremely vivid, almost like experiencing with my physical eyes. I was surprised to hear almost the exact singing in harmonics that resembled what I was singing in tongues as I sat in my closet. It was as if I had connected to what these angels were singing.

I came to the Lord as I usually do. I learned a few new things today. Actually, a lot more than a few. The Lord said that one of the first things He does when someone in the flesh comes to Him is He allows them to touch Him. He encourages it, because it helps them to see more clearly and focus. This is why He always extends His arm or hands to me when I come to Him.

I had so many questions today and by the end of two hours I was beginning to become weary in my mind. The Lord was very patient and answered my questions succinctly and would both speak and show me in vision the answers to what I asked. He is so merciful to me!

When I walked through the gate there was a bright flash of light and then I saw what I usually see. It is

51

so glorious. For some reason, I looked down and saw gold sandals on my feet which disappeared as I took a step toward the Lord. I wondered why I saw this. I stood before the Lord at His Throne. Above, straight up, there seems to be stars or something like a galaxy high up above. I looked at my Lord and He stepped from his glorious white Throne and held out His arm for me. We walked a few steps and He stopped and faced me. I asked, "Lord is this a private place?" He said that many are having conversations with Him even now. Each is private and personal. But, he said we could go anywhere I want. I asked the Lord what He would suggest.

We then moved quickly outside the formal Throne area to the portico that goes around the Heavenly Garden of the Lord. This is His Garden and we have been here before. We were walking beneath the Portico, which is lined with large white columns. The Gardens are lush and colorful. We stopped and I saw a large beautiful white sculpture of a person on my right. He is looking up to his left and he has thick curly hair. I asked the Lord who it was. He said it was a monument to Veniferi. I don't know if I am saying it right, but that is what He said. This man was killed in the Coliseum by the Romans, given up to the lions. He was a Christian martyr who gave everything for the Lord. He helped to bring many souls to Him and gave all, even his life for Him. The Lord said that each monument in the Garden is a record of a person's life. The Spirit will share the knowledge with all who

inquire and they can be a witness of their great events as much as they desire.

I asked the Lord about my golden shoes I wore as I entered the Throne. He said that it is a part of my armor my spirit wears. 12 But I don't need to see such things at the Throne. If I wore them it would be fine, as they are holy. He said it is kind of like how I sometimes see his crown and other times not.

Lord, what is the Church of the Firstborn exactly? It is the association of those who have become exalted, sons and daughters of Jesus Christ. Christ is the head of the Firstborn; but this special association also consists of those who themselves shall become a Firstborn to the Father, even Jesus Christ in future condescension's. They have now been "called," but few are chosen, for to be chosen they must seek to only do the will of the Father, to give up all, to gain all. They must be willing to set aside their glory to be Savior's on Mount Zion, and eventually a Firstborn in a new world, willing to do as Jesus did; doing all things that the Lord commands them. This is what it means to be a member of the Church of the Firstborn.

I was about to finish and I asked the Lord, "My friend (Edit) always has unique experiences with you, Lord. He says you have him taste foods. May I experience

and the Light of God", pg. 95-104

¹² How To Have Your Second Comforter, "Armor of the Lord

that with you?" He smiled big and I looked to my right to see a small table with a white table cloth under the portico. Although everything was light, there seemed to be light filtering through the openings in the roof above the portico making beautiful patterns on the path. We both sat down in this private Garden and the Lord invited me to try some of the food. First I tasted something like a berry. It was a mix between a grape, blueberry, raspberry, shaped kind of like a black berry but longer and bigger. It was the most intense berry flavor I have ever eaten. It was juicy, chewy, and delicious. I took several bites, chewed and swallowed and my whole body felt joy. I was given a drink that tasted like banana and peach. It was cold and frothy and delicious. I had never had anything quite like it. He then gave me some chocolate. It was about an inch in size, squared. I ate and was filled again with great joy. I then ate a type of white truffle and berry dessert. It was light and hard to describe. Lastly, I ate some kind of pastry that was delicious beyond words. I was totally satisfied and full of joy after eating. I asked the Lord where it came from. He said it is created by light and thought. He knew what kind of things I would enjoy and simply thought of them for me. They are as real as anything. It is the same principle by which the fishes and loaves were created when he fed the thousands in Judea. He said that there are many incredible foods and tastes throughout creation. We can experience them when we go to these places for

ourselves. Once we do, they are always with us. It was so amazing!

I thanked the Lord and we laughed together. It was time for me to go. Instead of just going like I normally do, I hugged him and said I would come again soon. I turned to go and started to jog and then run. I was running with great joy! I then began to fly and descended back to my body.

The Garden

Often the Lord has allowed me to come to a Garden of great beauty and light. I learned more about this place over time as I asked questions. Many of the previous chapter's events took place intermittently between these experiences.

I then began to praise God and felt great joy as I considered His holiness. I desired to be close to Him. I asked if I could come to Him in His Garden. I don't know what made me consider asking this, but no sooner had I made this request than I was descending upon a beautiful landscape.

I was in the most beautiful place, with tall trees, a path of stone and the Garden had more color and richness than I had ever experienced. Gold seemed to be the prominent color. All the colors shimmered and seemed to be alive. There was a deep river of crystal clear water near the path. I walked a few steps then found myself floating. I entered the water and felt its form and resistance, yet it was no trouble to move. As I submerged myself effortlessly I saw large colorful fish swimming around and in front of me. I came out of the water not wet. I saw Jesus in the Garden and I went to Him.

He was beautiful in His appearance. His hair was reddish; His face was soft. His eyes were full of color and brilliance. I hugged Him and kissed His hands. It all felt so natural and effortless. Complete love and beauty. I saw the markings upon his hands. The marks were light and had a "T" shape in them. ¹³ I kissed His feet and felt the scar in His side. The entire experience was gentle and with love as a father would embrace a little child. Everything seemed to happen quickly, completely unpretentious, and comfortable. I don't remember everything that was spoken.

The Spirit had taught me just in the last few days that an arch angel is a messenger, under covenant to perform a specific mission on earth. I asked the Lord if my wife and I could experience our Second Comforter experience with Him together and was told that we could. It doesn't happen often, but is acceptable by faith. ¹⁴

I was told to come back for more.

¹³ The Lord has seven marks or scars that remain in His body: one on each foot, each hand, above the wrist, and His side. There is a "T" mark inside the mark on the hands that looks like the scar folds inward. This sign has special meaning.

¹⁴ I shared my experience on the blog, Purerevelations.wordpress.com, "Experience the Second Comforter Together," July 22, 2016

I was pondering these things in my mind when I asked the Lord if I might visit with him again in the Garden. Again, in my mind, I saw myself passing through a portal of light. It seems to twist and the light pushes me through. Within a few seconds, it seemed I was descending again upon the Garden. It is as it was before. This time I studied the flowers, they are dazzling to look upon. My eyes focus on a rose whose color seems red but it glistens with other colors and sways as if to music. The flowers are dazzling. I could smell the deep aroma and it is wonderful. I then feel a desire to wait no longer and immediately I'm with the Lord at a secluded part of the Garden. He is in front of me, smiles, and leans to his left to pick a beautiful rose. The plant regenerates immediately. I don't know what happened to the flower.

I saw myself traveling upward again through the portal of light. I came down again in the Garden and spent more time there than before. As I descended I noticed the tall trees with their beauty. I looked at the bark and the trunks. The leaves were many colors and swayed like they were dancing. The grass along the bottom was different shades of green. It was varying lengths, but felt soft like feathers. I was barefoot and could feel it. I noticed the flowers again and saw that they were grouped in families, which were singing to each other. Once, when I

went to a local business I saw a big screen TV with a high definition movie of nature. It was only a video with music, flowers, and plants, etc. The owner said they put the TV up to give them a little nature while at work and to relax. What was interesting was the time lapse photography of the flowers, leaves, and plants they showed, because they seemed to be dancing like what I saw in the Garden. I was told that this was the Garden of Eden. It is so beautiful and welcoming and most holy.

I then thought how much I want to see the Lord, because he said to come to Him, and that's what started this whole vision. So. I immediately raced to Him and in an instant I was in the center of the Garden in a rounded area, with a path going out in a few directions.

I said, "Lord, where art thou?"

"Here I am!" He said, as I turned around to see Him smiling and standing only a couple of feet away. It almost seemed like He did it on purpose, like a little humor. I was so happy to see Him. I hugged Him and held His hands. I really looked into His face. It seems each time I come it gets easier to focus on Him and know Him better. This is speaking for myself, for He seems to be very comfortable. He lets me lead the conversation always.

I kept calling Him Father, and telling him how much I loved Him. He would say, "That's right!"

I was shown how close we are, (Edit) How could I have a conversation like this in my mind? I am still in awe and I've only begun to write what I experienced today.

After all this, I asked to be with the Lord in the Garden. I asked Him, "Where are we?" He said it was the Garden of Eden. "Where is that?" I asked and I was shown that it was closest to God's throne. It is the planet Kolob, 15 an entire planet of light. I need to ask more about this. As we were in the Garden I hugged him and kissed His hands. I saw him very clearly and we laughed. At one point I was dancing around and it was for more than a short time. I am somewhat surprised, as this is not my nature. I'm pretty reserved usually. Everything was so bright, so golden, so colorful, so beautiful. I have so much more I want to learn and ask. I probably have forgotten a lot of information that I saw and haven't written it here. I will remember.

I came to myself sitting in my closet and after 2-3 hours of sitting, I struggled to stand and get out of the closet and basically flung myself on my bed. My wife was there, eyes wide open, wide smile and said, "Are you okay?" It was hard to talk for fatigue, as I

-

¹⁵ Abraham 3:7

began to share my experience with her. I am overwhelmed.

Why is Eden Celestial and not a Throne? I was actually shown yesterday in vision that Eden is the Helpmeet to the great sphere in which God resides and bears His Throne. It is the companion planet and is female. Thus, as a beautiful garden she is adorned with beauty. This made sense to me and I had never supposed that planets had companions.

When I came to the Throne, it was beautiful as usual. I studied some of the beauty around the Throne in which I had seen before, the symbols and whiteness. He stood and I held His hands. He made me feel welcomed and loved. I asked if we could talk in the Garden and we were there. I noticed the birds singing this time. It is very bright and gold and yet I feel like I'm walking in the cool of the day.

When I got to the Garden I began to walk down the path. It appeared to be of pure gold, and I saw colorful jewels embedded in it. I had never noticed that before. It wasn't bright yellow, more soft in color. The grass was various shades of green and the flowers were so colorful. It was incredibly bright and sunny, yet there was no sun. The light doesn't hurt your eyes or feel uncomfortable.

I went to the Garden. I don't know what happened, perhaps I went to quickly, because I seemed to be face first on the ground. I recovered myself and was standing on the path. I took a little time again to examine my surroundings. Everything is so golden and colorful. I could smell the aroma of flowers. I swam in the water with the fish.

The Garden was as it always is, very glorious, bright, and exquisite. I looked at my surroundings to see if there was anything I had not noticed before. The tall trees were impressive, some had vines with flowers growing up the bottom of them. Some of the flower bushes were as tall as me. There were lots of small clearings and little spots where one would want to go and think. The path was about six feet wide, but would widen at different spots. I saw a bench of sorts along the path. The river was not too wide, maybe twenty feet across. I spent some time in the water again, and then went to my Lord.

When I saw, Him I came quickly and held His hands. I hugged Him and looked into His eyes. His face was glorious. His hair seemed lighter than before. Perhaps this is because so much light was radiating from Him. He smiled the whole time. His touch is gentle and loving. His robes are so white, yet I can look upon Him with complete comfort without squinting. I asked questions.

At this point I told the Lord that I had come to meet with family today, to ask questions. The Lord was smiling and said they are waiting for you, as he pointed down the path beside me.

I sensed a group of people as I approached. I had the impression that I should focus on one at a time, so that I could ask questions, otherwise it would be difficult. I first focused on my brother. I saw him clearly; my dear brother. His hair is blonde and thick, his face is full, but what I mean is that it is soft, not chubby. His eyes and smile are soft. He's like a mix of me and my other brother. He is about my height and medium build. His eyes are bright and sparkle and I feel so much love as I talk with him. I felt a tear fall on my cheek as we were talking.

I really expressed how much I missed him. How much I love him as my brother. He said that he misses being with me and the family as well, but that he checks in on us regularly. I hope I can remember everything that was spoken, there was so much! He works with the Principalities and it keeps him busy.

I asked him when I would meet his wife? He said that I need to wait, it would be a distraction in my work. I don't know what that means, but he mentioned that my wife and her are extremely close. They will fall upon each other and weep for joy when they meet in the future. I wonder if they are sisters? (This is just a guess.)

My brother said he has attended most of the special events with our family. Mom and Dad did everything perfectly, even though they doubt themselves. They are loving parents and my brother made it clear that everything he went through was a part of his receiving glory in the next life. His pain was sufficient, and he is grateful for the entire experience, more than he can adequately express. He loves Mom and Dad and all of us. He is with my sister and her family often. We are blessed to have him as a brother working in our behalf on the other side of the veil.

I hugged my brother and we just felt each other's spirits and love. Boy, this gets more incredible every time I see him.

I then looked for Grandma and Grandpa. Oh my, they are so wonderful! I hugged them both and they smothered me, especially Grandma. They were young, so I felt funny after telling "Grandma" how much I love and miss her. It was so Grandma. She kept telling me how much she loved me and was proud of me, over and over. Grandpa was more calm, but equally loving and encouraging. They became serious for a moment and told me to tell my Dad how sorry they were for how they treated him in the past. They are very supportive of them, love them, and come to help often. They think Dad is awesome. They didn't use that word, I can't

remember how they said it. They are so happy and proud of our family and the rest of the family too.

All of a sudden, my cousin about pounced on me. Oh, my gosh, she is so full of energy and love and enthusiasm. My tears were flowing at this point. She looked so beautiful. She looked so healthy and radiant. I hugged her and we were both kind of jumping up and down. She was expressing love for me, my family, my wife, everyone. She was talking so fast. She kept saying tell...... I love them. Tell......I love them. She said more than once to tell her family, her husband and her kids how much she loves them and watches over them always. She said she is able to do so much for them here, but she misses being with them as before. She is so wonderful and full of love and energy. I don't think I've met anyone like her in heaven, except Joseph Smith that comes close to her exuberance.

At that moment, another woman gently approached me and smiled and said hello. I looked at her and for a second did not recognize her, then I knew it was my cousin (Edit). She was also beautiful. She hugged me and said some nice things to me and wanted me to tell her parents how much she loves them and misses being with them. She is very happy too and I felt the same things from her as my brother had said. My heart is so full. I'm still crying, even as I write this.

I came back to the Savior again. I was a little embarrassed, as if I was taking too much of His time, but He assured me I can come as much as I need. I needed to ask him the question about my nephew's setting apart, when the mysterious man came. My mother said it was a very spiritual experience for her. The Lord said that this man is a servant of His and very close to my nephew, more than we know. My nephew will know his identity in the future. It is not one of the Three Nephites, but is a special person none the less. He has touched my nephew spiritually and will yet do things to help him. He is a special young man with a mission, and this will be revealed in time.

I am overwhelmed with joy.

I came to the Lord through the portal. It was very bright. I was met by an angel again. I could hear the harmonics and singing voices with their arms outstretched. The Throne was in the distance. I said, "Lord, may I speak with thee in the Garden." I was told yes and saw myself descending on the Garden. This time I noticed some different things. First I saw what I regularly saw, the brightness of everything, the flowers and gold path. I walked through some tall trees. I smelled the aroma of flowers and heard birds singing. I hadn't noticed that before. I then began walking down the path. To my left I saw a beautiful lion laying on the grass. I went over to him

and petted his mane. He was very content and spoke soothing thoughts to my mind. I petted his long fur, then his face and his large paw. The lion then rolled over on has back and I rubbed his stomach for a minute. I felt the animals happiness and had never seen a more majestic creature.

I sensed that the Savior was waiting. I came to Him and held His hands in front of me. I thanked Him for all the visits and for the many things I'm learning. I praised Him with all my heart and He smiled. I asked some questions.

I did my regular preparations and asked the Lord if I could come to Him. I first went to the Throne and approached Him as He sat there. He is magnificent and was smiling at me. I felt awkward as I tried to praise Him to His face. I love Him, and feel puny in His presence, but He seems to adore me, if I can say that, despite my weakness. I asked if I could go to the Garden to talk with Him. I felt that it would be more comfortable and easy there. He smiled and I saw myself descending again to that beautiful place. I looked at some of the roses near me. Full of color and swaying like they are dancing. The sky and everything is so bright. I wanted to see my Lord, so I called out, "Where are you Lord?" Then I was moving quickly toward Him. I held His hands and looked at Him. I really like it in the Garden.

I asked about the Lion that I saw last time and was told that He was a beast that I was well acquainted with; like friends. His name was Sheffell. My wife said something to me once about a particular animal and I was told that both her and I knew them personally, that these creatures were close to us. That seemed kind of crazy/fantasy to even think, but He said it was so.

When I came to the Garden I passed the beautiful flowers and trees and came straight to Him. I held His hands and hugged Him. He smiled at me and I looked directly into His eyes. He is so patient and seems as if He would spend eternity just with me, as long as I want. I said I had many questions and He replied that I could ask as many as I wanted, and He said that He loved me.

The Lord then put His hand upon my head and said I was sealed up to Eternal Life. He called me Blessed and said that I would receive a fullness of the Priesthood in time. He said it was already with me, but needed to be activated in its fullness in the near future. (I can't remember everything this blessing included, but I was overwhelmed and it was beautiful.)

I asked why the women have such different experiences from the men when they see in the spirit. My experience is more about seeing places

and things and having a conversation. Things are more logical and although I see symbols and visionary metaphors at times, but not to the extent that the women do; as I have witnessed my wife and many of the women, share what they see and I can observe a big difference. The women often see objects and gifts presented to them; flowers, jewels, birds, dance, music, beautiful animals and creatures of light. Yes, it is much more feminine and fanciful, and honestly, sometimes frustrating for me to hear about. This means that I can't understand the purpose and wonder why the Lord reveals Himself to them this way. I asked the Lord to forgive me for my question and He answered me. He said that it is His, and Father's, and Mother's joy to bless their daughters with gifts and understanding, which they can receive in such a manner better than men do. In the Heavenly Realm, all things are created with light, and all these things create a powerful teaching and priesthood upon His daughters like no other way. They delight in bestowing these gifts and visions upon the daughters, just as He delights in answering my questions and teaching me about the Kingdom. The Lord told me that He shares visionary experiences with children, and even they see things differently.

I asked the Lord what was it about when it is said that Adam knew a key word that would open Heaven? The Lord said it was my name, (Edit). He said that when we know who we are we can come to Him anytime. This is what is happening to me right now. It's not a magic word, but a knowledge of our relationship with God. If one is not prepared to receive this it can be a stumbling block, in fact this is part of the forbidden fruit that Adam and Eve partook of. It worked out fine, but could have been the means of great destruction had they been permitted to partake of the Tree of Life (God's presence) and lived forever in their sins. Therefore, they needed to condescend to fulfill all righteousness (Edit).

I then saw myself with the Lord again in the Garden. I can't remember what was spoken, but I was told that there was much to learn and I would need to study these things more. As I left I decided to meander around the Garden for a short while. I noticed a beautiful rose along the path. It was like a deep red, purple and blue, all in one. It was the most beautiful, glistening flower I had ever seen. I felt a desire to pick it. I picked it almost effortlessly, and it began to regenerate immediately. I remember how Jesus had once picked a rose and I didn't see what He did with it. I felt the Spirit tell me to place the rose in my heart, which I did. I placed the beautiful flower in my heart like it was made of pure light. It was such a feeling of love and beauty and became a part of me. I then looked closely at my surroundings. Many of the leaves on the flower bushes were gold. The grass was green. The sky was many colors, not just blue, and very bright. Suddenly a skunk came up

to my legs. What? I thought, how could this be? It began to purr and rub itself against me like a kitten. I picked it up and felt nothing but love. Then other animals came towards me. I saw a panther, a rabbit, a bear, and others I cannot remember. They all wanted me to touch them. I felt love and felicity with them. I wondered how many more would come, but I felt I needed to leave. These animals expressed pure love and that was all. I didn't have any conversations. A song bird landed on my hand and it seemed to express love too. All of this seemed so cute and similar to what my wife describes at times and I pondered at how childlike the experience was. It was amazing.

As I left the Garden I traveled feet first through the portal back to the closet.

As I moved through the light I was greeted by an angel. I'm not sure if I have seen him before, although he did look familiar. He smiled and greeted me as (Edit). He is tall, has white hair and manly features. I saw the many people facing the Throne and praising with their arms outstretched. I studied the area again, the tall white Throne, the stars moving and many hundreds, if not more, in white singing harmonic praises to God. It is an amazing site. I asked to come to the Lord and was told to come forth. I stood before Him. He sat in the beautiful white and gold chair with the lion heads

and other engraved symbols. He smiles at me and His dark reddish hair seems to lighten with the light around Him. I said, "Lord, where would be best for me to talk with you?" He seemed to indicate that was my choice and eagerly waited for my answer. I chose to visit with Him in the Garden. Immediately I was there. I always seem to be facing the same direction, which is like moving South, but I certainly have no way of gauging that. I was moving down the path glancing at the beautiful flowers and trees and then I rushed to the central area where the Savior was.

I hugged Him and touched His hands. I always love to hold His hands and express my love. I looked into His eyes and He smiles. He said He loved me. He said He could take as much time as I needed to ask my questions.

I began by telling Him my book was finished, "How To Have Your Second Comforter." I asked if it was suitable. I had done my very best. He said it was good and that it would do much good in helping others to come to Him and have a similar experience. He said that by this, part of my calling was finished and that a new one was about to begin. He said I would find a few things I might make minor changes in the future in the book, but nothing major. He was pleased. He said it was my personal testimony. I am impressed that although it is an anonymous book now, in the future people will

know it is from me. For now, for a wise purpose, it is best to not reveal my name in the credit. I asked if at a later time, I should reveal the content of these visions? (Of course, not revealing anything that the Lord wishes me to withhold.) He said in the future I would know the answer to that. For now, my focus is (Edit). He said I should go and write and would be given what I need in that regard, which I will do when I'm done with this journal entry.

Then the Lord stood and took my arm. He smiled upon me and I asked to go to the Garden. We descended to the same spot we usually go, where the paths meet. It is near some large trees. The aroma is sweet, like roses. The place is bright, glorious, and golden, with rich colors everywhere. I focused upon my Lord as I looked into His face. I felt His arms which were covered by His robe. It feels so comfortable and gentle. So, natural and real. Nothing pretentious.

I said I have many questions. He said that was good for there is much more to learn. He said He had all the time I need.

At one point, I asked about this Garden and He said I created it with my wife. We have come here often. He said he has more than one Garden.

73

I saw myself descending at the Garden. It is so beautiful. The golden light is everywhere. I stood on the path and looked again at the beautiful flowers as they swayed like they are dancing. The tall trees and beautiful garden are so inviting! I heard my wife's voice, "I am at the bench on the path."

I came to her. She sat on the bench talking to the Lord. The bench was like white marble with decorative carvings. She was so beautiful! She reminded me of how she looked about 15 years ago, but even more radiant. Her eyes were like blue flash lights. I know that sounds strange, but they radiated like Jesus' eyes. I think that is a bad example, but I can't think of a better analogy at the moment.

As soon as I arrived she stood and looked at the Savior, as both her and I stood before him. She stood to my left as we faced the Savior. (Edit)

My wife and I stood before the Lord. I held the Savior's left hand as I touched the marking. I was about to ask my wife to take His other hand when she spoke to me with her natural voice. "I'm back, I'm not in the Garden now."

We talked about what we had seen and both she and I had the same experience. She described the white bench, the way the Savior looked, (Edit) It was exactly the same experience. I suggested that next time something happens that she doesn't

understand she should ask the Lord what it means and why.

It was a beautiful experience we had together. We had done it, we came to the Lord together. My wife said she could only see my body and hands, but that she could see the Lord's body and face very clearly. I explained to her that for me, going to the heavenly realm is like looking through a camera lens that I need to focus every time I move or turn. It takes effort. If I lose my focus I can black out, or see only a glimpse. It is much easier to hear, but to see requires effort. I believe this is because we are still tethered to the flesh. She found that analogy helpful.

We stood next to our altar and looked out to the west. A beautiful rainbow was in the sky, like a reminder of our covenant with the Lord we made that day. Best birthday ever!¹⁶

I saw the Lord smiling at me as He sat on His Beautiful Throne, all white and with various symbols. I began to weep. I felt His love for me. I asked if we could speak with Him in the Garden. I descended quickly. I walked down the path for a short while, studying the flowers. I saw a

⁻

¹⁶ I shared my experience on the blog, Purerevelations.wordpress.com, "Experience the Second Comforter Together," July 22, 2016

hummingbird and saw other birds. I went swiftly to the Lord and embraced Him. He smiled at me and we talked about my mission and my need to come often. I really missed Him.

I asked if we could converse in the Garden. We quickly descended there to a familiar place. I could smell the aroma of flowers and all the colors and brilliancy gave me great joy.

I felt at times things were crystal clear, then I would lose focus and need to come back again. I've learned that the more time and regularity I have with coming into this realm the easier I see.

I asked the Lord if I could speak with Him in my Garden. He smiled and we descended together instantly. As we stood together where the paths crossed I looked around. It is so beautiful and golden with myriads of colors. I looked at the Lord and it seemed easier to be with Him here. I don't know why, less intense perhaps. I told Him I had many questions.

I asked how the Garden was created. He said there are innumerable Gardens and that they are all created with love and care. The trees and foliage are planted, but grow immediately and are filled with

light. The animals are brought and all else. It is a careful and loving creation for each soul.

I asked if the words we use when praying make a difference, or is it just what is in our hearts? The Lord said that words can be important. Certain words are used for creation and ordinance, but communicating in Heaven is not as difficult as in mortality.

I saw the Lord smiling at me as He sat on His beautiful Throne, all white and with various symbols. I began to weep. I felt His love for me. I asked if we could speak with Him in the Garden. I descended quickly. I walked down the path for a short while, studying the flowers. I saw a hummingbird and saw other birds. I went swiftly to the Lord and embraced Him. He smiled at me and we talked about my mission and the need to come often. I really missed Him.

The Spirit World

The Spirit World is made of three degrees: The Nexus, which is all around us; the First Heaven, which is Paradise; and Spirit Prison. I will focus my writing on the first two in this chapter and save the other portion for a future book. Again, these are segments of separate experiences that I put together to help the reader understand more clearly about this realm.

What happens when the seed of men die? I saw that they go to the Nexus where they continue. They often gravitate to familiar family and places. They cooperate to enter new bodies again of their own kind. If they make covenants with dark spirits, they may be able to improve their status and comfort in the next life. If they are interested in joining the seed of Adam and partaking of the covenant of God there are arrangements made, but usually no comfort is promised. It is a difficult choice for the seed of men. It is extremely difficult for second estate beings to use their sacred imagination to create with light. They crave the flesh and yearn to be back in a new body. Often, they are able to taste of the flesh when they enter a weak tabernacle and this quenches their insatiable thirst for bodily gratifications. It is not easy for a son of man to choose the House of Israel; it usually only happens

when they feel the love of the Father, or begin to see beyond their own desires.

I'm trying to remember everything that I was shown, so I hope I can recall it all. I think before John came to me I asked the Lord about the meaning of east. west, north and south in the Book of Enoch. This was very helpful for me. When it says east it is referring to being closer to God. West is going away from God, or moving toward a telestial level. North is ascending up toward the Father, and south is toward outer darkness. North and south are interdimensional, and east and west are referring to closer or farther from God. I saw that black holes are what take both planetary bodies and spirits who are damned to outer darkness after a telestial world is exalted. There are rivers of souls that travel toward these dark places or between worlds depending upon their purposes.

First I desired to understand the Spirit World; what is going on there? I was shown that there is a firmament that separates the Spirit Prison from Heaven, which we sometimes call Paradise. This lies within the confines of our atmosphere. We could call this the First Heaven. There are three. The Second Heaven is where the angels of God reside. It extends toward the "east" and is considered the terrestrial realm. This is the glory of the stars and

¹⁷ 2 Corinthians 12:2

they can move and travel anywhere and when given permission ascend to the Third Heaven, which is where God resides and is the glory of the sun. The "Exceedingly High Mountain" or glass room where I go and speak with Melek is the Second Heaven, because it is outside the confines of the Telestial world. Each heaven is separated by a firmament, or gate that cannot be passed without permission.

There are as many levels of bad and evil spirits as there are good spirits. All first estate beings of the Father are good. Second estate beings begin to divide, but I was told that most of these eventually come to the Father. The seed of men, which are not of the seed of Adam, come from other Fathers and are allowed to come to earth at its creation. These spirits are not of the damned, but did not rise above the Telestial Kingdom when other worlds were exalted and thereby were allowed to come here to take their chances. Some have no intention of joining the House of Israel, and others will be seduced by Satan, or will choose to eventually accept Jesus Christ's Atonement and come to Him. They are saved by Grace until they make the choice, meaning they are not damned for their lack of knowledge or opportunity.

I learned that The Spirits of the Just are those that abide in Paradise in the First Heaven. The Spirits of Just Men and Women Made Perfect are those who have been exalted and become part of the Church of the Firstborn and have chosen to condescend to have more glory added upon them and help in the saving of souls on this world and others.

I asked to meet George Washington. I was taken to another place in the First Heaven. Before we met I had a vision of Washington on his horse during the war. He was trudging through the snow on this horse during the day. There were others in his group following him. He got off his horse and walked into the woods not far away to pray privately. I saw him raise his arms and cry out to God for his benevolent mercy. He cried for his troops and his country. He was only there a short while and was back on his horse and going again. Melek told me he did this almost daily during the war. That Washington was a fourth estate being and had received his Baptism of Fire. I then was introduced to him.

Washington had brown hair pulled back. He had a pleasing face and a gentle smile. He was tall. He shook my hand and I thanked him for all he did for us. (Edit)

I asked what he does. Apparently, he is a greeter of sorts to American soldiers as they enter the spirit world. He encourages them to accept Christ. He has done this a lot in the past. He also spends a lot of time watching over the affairs of this country, walking the halls of Congress and other places in DC.

He spoke of his disappointment for America and how far we've strayed. He said that the future would be dire, but that the kingdom of God would change everything. He was happy and yet sad at the same time. He is a noble man. I thanked him and left.

Next Melek introduced me to Benjamin Franklin. I could hardly have recognized him from the old paintings I've seen. He was thin and youthful looking. Very happy and energetic. His story was similar. He is deeply interested in our government and what's going on. It sounds like the spirits of the Founders have their eyes upon the doings of this country. He said that he became more interested in Jesus and Christianity in his later years and that he was looking forward to the Lord's return. He referred to himself as Benjamin Yassi. I have no idea what that means. Maybe it was an inside joke. He is also a fourth estate being and had his baptism of fire already. Both he and Washington were dressed in white robes, but I saw Washington wearing his military uniform when he appears to the soldiers.

Thomas Jefferson was the next I met. He was stately looking, tall, and younger than some of the pictures I've seen. He had a quick personality and was kind of laid back. I thanked him for his part in the country's founding. He said his favorite things were horticulture and studying philosophy. He was irritated by how his words and actions are taken out of context. He referred to the Bible he cut up. He

compared it to cutting and pasting on our computers. He wanted to look at the words and teachings of Christ. Jefferson believed we should judge all things by their fruit and not what we could not measure. Thus, he removed the miracles so he could study the doctrine itself. He said he always believed in God, but didn't know how much the Lord was involved. He now knows otherwise. He said that he was taken out of context for his letter to the Baptist church that spoke of the separation of church and state. He said they even held church in the halls of Congress, for goodness sake! As long as the government doesn't lift up a particular church. The government should seek to lift all virtue of religion regardless of where it comes. Jefferson was also a fourth estate being. He never had relations with a slave as was accused of him later. I need to find out more about his marriage. Jefferson also works among the principalities and often walks the places in Washington DC when things are taking place that he has interest in.

I saw John Adams but I can't remember much. He seemed the angriest about the condition of the country. I wish I could remember more, but there was so much. He too was younger than I remember from his pictures.

James Madison had dark hair and a piercing gaze. He was cordial and serious. He echoed much of what I heard from the others, but spent a little time talking

about how far off the country was from the original intent. He talked about how states' rights were now minimal. He was furious about the Supreme Court and what they do. He was very irritated as we talked. I was told that he and his wife were bonded and fourth estate beings, having received their ordinances. Incredible people.

I asked to see Lincoln and Melek took me to a place in the First Heaven. I saw what was clearly Lincoln talking among a circle of people. He looked young and good. He had no beard and medium length hair. I waited a minute for him to finish and then he turned to me to greet me. He was nice and had a fun personality. I could hear a sort of way of talking that reminded me of country folk. (I don't know how else to describe it.) Melek had told me that Lincoln was a second estate that had accepted Christ and received his baptism of fire. He talked about how angry he was how the black American is treated by the country's elite. That they are taken advantage of by the powers that be. He also was angry with how the bankers have taken over the country. He said he used to hang around the white house but that the bad spirits there are so bad he prefers to avoid the place. Lincoln was cracking jokes a lot, but I can't seem to remember what he said. He mentioned Joseph and how he knew who he was in Illinois and wondered how he could always get out of everything. He admired him for his stand against slavery.

I was then with Melek again and I smiled as I thought of who was next on my list. Hmm, should I really ask? I wanted to meet (Edit). 18

Melek seemed unfazed by the request and I saw myself descending. I was in the Nexus. Meleck said that (Edit) had accepted Jesus and had received baptism. He was waiting for his baptism of fire. When I met, him he greeted me and we introduced ourselves. He had brown hair, but was definitely (Edit). He looked different. He was a little shy, but friendly. I said that he had a lot of fans that loved his music. He talked about that and how his life is different now. He expressed how he wished his life had been different in mortality. He didn't have good memories of the fame. He wished he had done a profession where he could have had a normal life. He said after his death he was a guardian for his family and still checks in on them. He also likes to join with the comforting angels to sing to those who are suffering. He gets a lot of joy from these things. He has such a good heart and was very humble.

The last person I met was a teacher from my high school who passed away about 15 years ago, and it

•

¹⁸ I didn't reveal this person's name, but he was quite famous in his life. I know this seems trivial to include, but I asked the Lord about many names I had listed. He told me I could ask anything and He never seems to find my questions trivial. I learned something new about the Spirit World when meeting this particular person.

was so nice to see him. He looked really good. He was trim and healthy looking. He smiled the whole time as we talked. He said that he watches over his kids a lot and helps with the principalities. He is very happy. We talked about his funeral. He was comforting his kids and enjoyed my dad's eulogy, it made him laugh out loud. (Edit) He then said a few things that were so him: "Ya did good, yea, dad must be proud!" (Something like that.) I really enjoyed the short time I had with him. He said, "Tell (Edit) hi for me!" It seemed so surreal.

I asked if I could meet Ronald Reagan. He is one I wanted to meet when I was with the founding fathers and it just didn't happen. With the recent election, he has been on my mind a lot. The Lord said Reagan had been informed I would be coming and was waiting. He was in the First Heaven and I could go there.

I descended into a light area, like an office place. I saw Ronald Reagan standing with his wife Nancy. He immediately came up to me and shook my hand smiling. Nancy also greeted me. They both looked young and vibrant, like their early movie star days. He said to call him Ronnie. He was so warm and friendly. Nancy was nice too, but more reserved.

I said that I wanted to meet them. That the Lord had arranged for me to meet many of the American

leaders of the past. Ronald smiled and nodded his head. (Edit)

I thanked Nancy and Ronald for everything they did to serve us in America. I asked what they do now. Ronald said that they are always together. They work among the Principalities. He assists those who work for the US dealing with foreign countries and other leaders in America. (Edit) He implied that he didn't think things would stay well for long. Hard times are coming.

I asked if he had seen the Lord, which he implied yes. Both him and Nancy have had the Gift of the Holy Ghost given to them, he while alive and Nancy after she passed. He said it was hard watching Nancy without him for the time before she passed. They are very close. The Lord told me they are both in their third estate now. I thanked them for visiting with me. It was very nice. I returned to the Lord.

The Twelve Hierarchy of Angels

What is an angel? Those who take direction from the Fathers.

Each Hierarchy has levels within itself. The Lords works are endless.

There are both male and female angels, often working in partnerships within a marriage covenant, but not always in the lower angel degrees.

Thrones

These are angels of the highest order, which have been crowned Kings and Queens unto the Most High. Once an angel (anointed one) has overcome all things, they are crowned a King unto the Most High. At this level, they are to judge their creations righteously under the supervision of the Great Jehovah, which is above them forever. They are Gods because they have all powers given unto them. There are many thrones and many Kingdoms.

Arch Angels

These are angels of many classes and purposes, who are under covenant of the Great Jehovah to perform specific callings upon the earth. These are the chosen Noble and Great Ones of the 4th, 5th and 6th Estate. Michael, a title, is the greatest of them all,

and coordinates the creation under the supervision of the Great Jehovah and the Eternal Father.

Seraphim

These are the angels which are messengers directly from the throne of God. A seraph can be an arch angel, sent on a mission from the Lord.

Cherubim

These angels guard the courts of Heaven and stand as century to those who approach the Lord and pass through gates and portals of the ascension. These Angels fill the courts of heaven. They sing praises to God and share in His glory, which is light and truth, or knowledge. They guard the gates to the Throne of the Kingdom and are at every level of ascension. All angels experience this calling at some point.

Dominions

These angels are given responsibility over dispensations and the elements of the earth. These angels can be included among arch angels.

There are eight dispensations and each dispensation begins with a restoration of priesthood. These archangels are given presiding authority over their dispensation.

First – Adam – God's covenant with Adam Second - Noah – God's covenant with Noah Third – Abraham – Establishment of the Abrahamic Covenant

Fourth – Moses – Establishment of Israel

Fifth – John – establishment of the New Covenant Sixth – Joseph – Restitution of All things (Time of the Gentiles)

Seventh Seal – (Edit)– Gathering of Israel (Fullness of Times)

Eighth Seal – Great Jehovah – Dispensation of the Coming of the Great God (End of the Millennium)

Virtues

These are referred to as the Spirits of the Lord, and they teach and administer the attributes of godliness that lead the Lord's servants on earth to the Throne of God. There are seven spirits or exalted angels and each holds the keys to their virtue. Each Estate is governed by seven virtues that guide toward the next estate. These are the Lord's schoolmasters.

There are Seven Virtues or positions held by the Arch Angels that abide in Heaven and teach the Attributes of Godliness. The seven attributes are like the colors in the rainbow and form an arch, and when combined, create white light and a covenant between God and Man.¹⁹

Priesthood

-

¹⁹ Genesis 9:3, Revelation 4:1, 10:1

Revelation Temperance Brotherly Kindness Repentance Faith in God Hope²⁰

When these are acquired, then comes Charity, Knowledge of God and Wisdom, and thou art one with the Father and the Son and the Holy Spirit.

Powers

These angels keep control of the doings of the Adversary. They are the warrior angels that control the Eternal Prison and strike fear in the Dark Realm. They control life and death among God's children. They come in many forms, sizes and glories. Some are sent from the very Most High, and others are watchers and doers.

Principalities

These angels watch over the affairs of men in the world, including cities, governments, religions, and politics. These angels are recorders and administrators and watch and intercede when necessary in the institutions of men. They keep track of the wickedness and righteousness of cities and peoples.

Guardians

-

²⁰ Ascending order from Hope to Priesthood.

These are witnesses and protectors and advocates for individuals, usually among family or bonded relationships through eternity that watch over people and help them to overcome the world. We are always watched over by those who love us.

Comforters

These angels' purpose is to comfort, both by teaching and sending God's glory to those who need healing. They are close to Mother and are usually female. These angels visit those who are enduring great suffering. These angels administer to both the living and the dead. They comfort both body and soul, yet the Spirit can only be comforted by the Lord. They must be given permission to come by the Lord and often on the heels of prayers.

Holy Animals and Creatures

There are angels of the animal kingdom who watch and keep order among the creatures of the earth, that they may fill the measure of their creation. This realm is endless, as there are many such angelic creatures of various levels and glory. Everything is under the power and rule of the Father.

Planetary Guardians

These are angelic creatures and bodies of all sorts that administer to the planetary bodies in their glory

and help them to fill the measure of their creation. There are as many levels among the planetary guardians, as there are among the Sons of Light.

I asked the Lord which angels were women in the hierarchy and was shown that women are the helpmeets, or equal partners with the men among the Virtues and Dominions. Among the Powers they work with the dark women spirits. The women are very busy, but are most active among the Comforters. It is a beautiful organization in which the Lord operates His Kingdom.

I asked if my revelation regarding Dominions and Dispensations when studying the Hierarchy of Angels was correct and was told, "Yes." There are currently seven major dispensations starting with Adam and ending with Joseph Smith. These dispensations are broken down with "Times," in which certain things transpire. I am grateful for the clarification

I asked the Lord a few questions. How am I to understand the Seven Virtues within the Hierarchy of Angels. I was told that I have it right, but that there are seven other virtues after one is exalted. There are also seven virtues taught to the first estate spirits and seven to the fifth estate beings as they prepare for their missions of glory. All things

93

are done in order and we learn grace for grace as we come into the full light of knowledge.

I was told that the Hierarchy of the Principalities of Angels is what administers the affairs of the First Heaven. They deal with the families of the House of Israel and their family units (who goes where). I plan to study more of this in detail.

I told the Lord I was interested in learning about the hierarchy of angels in more detail. He seemed pleased. I looked upon Him, His white robe and beautiful face. He is always smiling softly and looking at me with His piercing bright eyes. I feel nothing but love and acceptance in His presence. I feel like He is the coolest friend and it's easy to forget I am in the presence of infinitesimal power.

I was shown in a previous vision that there are twelve hierarchies of angels and the Lord confirmed that. He said that within these classes of angels are also many sub classes and levels. It is all perfectly organized and under the direction of the Father Elohim. He said that much of these have an opposing Satanic counter order that follows a similar pattern.

The top order is called the Thrones. This is where the exalted angels of the Patriarchal order reign over

their dominions. They rule from the Throne planet, which is the male planet, exalted, and is overwhelmingly larger than our own sun; if that gives you any indication of its size. He said there is no space where there is not space. This place is like a Urim and Thummim, where all things are manifest; past, present, and future. The glory of God is light and intelligence, which is a governing principle in which all things are created.

I asked about archangels. I was told that these are the "noble and great ones" spoken of to Abraham in the Book of Abraham. He said there are many noble ones, which are exalted Angels of the 4th Estate, but not as many arch angels. These archangels are limited to 200 and are on special assignment to govern in this realm. They condescend to earth and assist in the establishment of Zion and the building of the Lord's Kingdom. They are led by Michael and are led by 24 angels of this order with their helpmeets. These constitute the family of God that roll through the dispensations of time on this earth. Many in their ranks constitute the prophets and holy men and women who have lived upon this earth.

All of these 200 are well acquainted with each other and work closely with the House of Israel for their benefit. These are among those who have reached a further stage of development as a 4th Estate Being. Then I asked about the Seraphim angels. I was told that these were the direct messengers sent from the

Throne. They are often closely aligned with those to whom they are sent. For example, Gabriel was close to Mary, who would be the mother of Christ. Typically, Seraphim are sent to announce God's will, either to the edification and instruction of holy prophets and prophetesses, or to announce the Lord's judgments to the same. Seraphim have the ability to fashion wings of light as a symbol of their status when appearing to chosen people. They do not have wings, but can create them when they desire.

The Cherubim are the gatekeepers, but also those who are allowed to praise at the Throne and courts of Heaven. They get to greet visitors and prepare them to receive more glory and light. This is a joyful calling to those who partake. When they hold out their arms and palms they receive great glory and expand their ability to progress and grow in knowledge and understanding. It is joyful and helps them to grow, like the way flowers grow from sunlight. They are able to align their perspective and faith and fill their hearts with so much love that they often take on difficult assignments without fear for they are filled with charity. I have stood many times among the Cherubim. I was told that Gabriel is the archangel who administers the order of Cherubim.

The order of Dominions are where each dispensation is administered. This usually is in relation to the renewing or restoring of priesthood

to an era and the realigning of the House of Israel, or seed of Adam. All of the Noble and Great Ones have assisted in this order. This order is administered by Raphael, or Enoch. He also has authority over the elements of the Earth and will have an important role in the winding up scenes of the last days when Christ comes in His glory. All those who have administered in the Dominion order will play a part in that.

The Virtues are the angels of archangel status that officiate in the development of spiritual awakening among those who wish to be Sons or Daughters of God. They hold the keys to this knowledge and delegate the teaching of certain principles which lead the Sons of Adam and Men to receive their baptism of Fire and Gift of the Holy Ghost. Each virtue aligns with a color spectrum like the rainbow, and has a progression that leads to perfect harmony and light, which in turn qualifies us to receive the gift. These angels often wear the color of their virtue on the surface of their white robes. I was told my wife and I have had the privilege of doing this. Each virtue is governed by a male and female couple. It seems that only couples who continue to receive glory by covenant are sealed together. This occurs in the 4th Estate, but is not finalized until the 5th and 6th estate, where they are eternally bound as a unit of Godhood.

After one receives the fullness of the Virtue covenant, their schooling moves to the next phase where they are trained to be a King and Queen of the most High. There are three pillars that we must be instructed in with a fullness of understanding. First is Charity, which is the attribute of Christ, Second is the knowledge of God, which is the attribute of the Father, and third is the attribute of the Mother, which is wisdom. These we can only learn by sacrifice and condescension.

These are the colors of the Virtues:

Priesthood Violet
Revelation Indigo
Temperance Blue
Brotherly Kindness Green
Repentance Yellow
Faith in God Orange
Hope Red

The Powers, I was told, are the warriors of the Lord. I have had opportunity to serve among these, as has my son. Our spirits are much larger than the physical bodies we possess and often these spirits appear in their actual size and appear as giants to those in the flesh. They often wear full armor of light. These exalted angels are able to seal up bad spirits to remain in Spirit Prison to go no more out. These angels have power over life and death. These angels often come to the defense of the righteous when

they are threatened by men in the flesh or devils in the spirit. They can be both male or female. I was told they delight in their work and love to come and assist me whenever they are called. I asked the Lord if I needed to ask His permission for them to come. He said that all I needed to do was check with the Spirit and then tell them they were needed and they would come immediately. Many of them know me. I asked if they are only called the "Powers," since that name sounds somewhat awkward. I was told they are the shohophalim or mashophalim. I probably messed that up in the spelling and pronunciation, but that is how it sounded to me.

Next, I was shown the Principalities. This is the realm which administers the First Heaven, or Paradise. Probably what most people consider as heaven. It exists within the sky above the earth, but not beyond the atmosphere. Now I think I understand why people think of clouds of heaven when they consider where heaven is. To those who abide there, it is not clouds. They work in buildings of a sort. There are also gardens and places, but not like in the higher heaven. It resembles this earth, but in purity. This realm is the dwelling place of the spirits of the Just, and also the angels of the Father that administer and lead the order of Principalities. I saw that not only do they coordinate the families and birth of new spirits, but also the missionary work that is done among the spirits of the dead. They often go to the spirits of the sons and daughter of

men of the Telestial order and offer them the blessings of the House of Israel. Usually the spirits there, who walk the earth have no interest. They are comfortable where they are. After they die, the memories of their former lives return and they either rest for a while or return to a body knowing full well they will experience both pain and pleasure. They are satisfied. But if they desire to possess more knowledge and glory they are promised that they will be taught the gospel and are put under the protection of the principalities, placed in the world where they will be given an opportunity to receive the Gospel. Angels watch over them and they are led to a fullness. It is very merciful, although it doesn't frequently. Most of the happen Principalities are busy preparing the seed of Adam to be exalted and receive their baptism of fire and become members of the Church of the Firstborn, which is to mean an angel of God. I was told that I would want to come and visit again if I wanted to spend time observing these angels doing their work. Today I'm just having questions answered.

During my conversation and seeing one vision open after another occasionally I would look around to be sure the Lord was with me. He always is standing next to me, usually on my left. He smiles and seems happy to be with me.

I asked about Guardians and was shown how these are often extensions of the Principalities with the

purpose of leading and helping us in mortality. They are usually family. Even those who are under Satan's care, have guardians of a dark sort that help them. Often, those who have just left mortality will work as a guardian to help those who may have been negatively affected by their lives. A part of restitution for their sins. ²¹ One does not need to be a guardian; it is a choice. But it is a beautiful way for us to assist and find forgiveness for ourselves and healing.

Another type of angel is a Comforter. These are usually women and they stay with those who are experiencing sickness, on the verge of death, or are trying to find peace after going through great trauma. These angels often work with the Guardians. They usually express love, compassion, and wisdom to those who are suffering. They can ease the body and soul, but the spirit can only be succored by Jesus Christ.

Many of these angels sing and use musical instruments. It is really fascinating to watch. They also help soothe those who are dead. They can facilitate spiritual light and invoke the spirit by what they do. Many of these angels carried similar talents as they experienced mortality.

²¹ If they do not repent in mortality they must pay a type of restitution for their sins in the Spirit World. It helps in the healing process, but they may still be saved by Jesus' atonement through different means; proxy baptism and the Gift of the Holy Ghost.

I asked about the order of the creatures. It is amazing how organized everything is. I was shown that all creations come through God. Once intelligence is organized into its form it must fill the measure of its creation. Some creatures are made telestial, others terrestrial, and then celestial. When I was in the Garden a few weeks ago, I met many creatures of a celestial order. I saw birds, animals, and fish. I didn't see any insects, but I don't know if that means anything. I was told that reptiles also are among exalted creatures in some places.

This caused me to ask about different humanoid creatures that I have seen. The Lord said that some of these are created by Lucifer and abide in His realm. Half man and half animal. In the Lord's realm, these do not inhabit bodies. There are other gods with different physical aspects, but our God, Elohim, is of boundless glory and these gods do not share in that glory. That is all I know for now.²²

I was shown that the animals share a language of love and felicity. They can communicate, but in a telestial realm they simply fill the measure of their creation, which is often to breed, commune, survive, and then die. All of them go through a similar pattern of multiple mortalities, and some are exalted. It is a beautiful process.

_

 $^{^{\}rm 22}$ I later was shown much of this which I recorded and plan to include in a forthcoming book.

The Planetary Guardians are the last in the angel hierarchies I saw. These are fascinating and I learned many new things today that I had never heard. It is amazing to me how closely these parallel the sons and daughters of Light. They are created at the same time as spirit children of God. They must begin a Telestial existence. They follow a pattern similar to us. The solar system is a type of our existence. There are many planets that revolve around the sun. One particular planet, which happens to be a female planet – Earth – is in a process of being glorified. The moon is like the Holy Spirit, and the Sun is a type of Christ. The Sun is moving through the galaxy and revolves around a center sphere, which is a symbol of the Eternal Father. There are many signs in the Heavens or messengers which come to earth. There is even a dark planet which causes problems with the Earth. I didn't see that, but I knew it was out there. The Spirit of the Earth is self aware and intelligent. We can communicate with it. The angel order of the Dominions has direct authority to help with the work that the seed of Adam does upon it. The earth answers to the Throne and Garden planet and all report to the Great Eternal Father. All things are in constant motion, and yet the times and seasons are perfectly organized like the very cells of our body.

I hope I have remembered everything. I was amazed as I was repeatedly shown how the hierarchies of

angel have a dark counterpart. I need to go back and learn more.

I came to Him at His Throne this morning. He stood up from His Magnificent Throne chair and I held His arm and looked at Him. His smiling, beautiful face puts me at ease. I could see very clearly. Sometimes it seems to flow in and out of clarity, as if I'm looking through a glass. It still does, but if I can focus enough I see with acute vividness. This was one of those times.

He then showed me something quite remarkable. He said that the angels that have power over this earth reside on an exalted sphere within our own solar system – the sun. This is a glorified sphere of light and glory, which is where they abide. The name of this place is Shaphinu-im. He took me there and I saw us pass through the plasma of light that was awesome to witness with my eyes. There were shafts of light shooting up and out into the heavens. I was taken to a large and open room, which had large, wide columns, desks and other things. Everything was white and glorious. I believe this is where I have come when I spoke with Elijah, and now John. When John shows himself in the spirit among the living he will appear as if he were wrapped in orange flames of glory. When I saw him at the Parowan Gap he looked as he does at the Throne. I wondered about that and was told that

when a circle of glory envelopes the space, these white flames in the circle create a portal which allows heaven to come to us, so it is different. (This is sometimes referred to as a pillar of fire or light.) When John shows himself to us with a physical tabernacle it shields his glory, but he still can do all things with that power as if there were no physical restraints.

I asked John what he does. He said that he is Uriel, the archangel that holds the keys to the bottomless pit. This means that he is over the Shahophalim, which are the angels called "Powers." These angels have the seal of the Eternal Prison which contains dark spirits which can go no more out. He has an important role in the last days in regards to containing and watching over the realm of the Adversary. He works closely with Elijah, which holds the keys to the Gatherers and those who will have the sealing power.²³ I was shown that there are thousands of Sons of Perdition upon the earth today, as there are those who are exalted men and women. There must be a balance, as there is opposition in all things. As I was told before, there are more of the "144K" on the other side of the veil, than there are among the living. (Edit)

I saw myself ascending in the portal, the very bright light and sound of the harmonics as I entered the

⁻

²³ Revelation 7:2-3

Throne. I saw the white brilliant angels greeting me, calling me by my name (Edit). I asked how many angels were here and was told ten of thousands. (I don't quite understand what that means.) I could see that they were spread out over a great distance. Usually when I go to the Throne I only perceive perhaps hundreds. The angel I spoke with said that they come to share in the glory and to have light added upon them. Only those who are exalted can do this. (angels)

I said goodbye to them. I was with the Lord again. He sent me to visit with Joseph Smith in the Principalities. I was excited to see Joseph again. He is always so joyful to be around. I found myself walking in a large spacious white building. I seemed to be on an open path of sorts and could look out in both directions to see many people in white clothes busily doing things; I didn't know what. I saw a man standing at the end of this open hall waiting for me. It was Joseph. He embraced me and laughed. I told him I was embarrassed to take his time and he assured me he was more than happy to spend time with me.

I asked more details about what he does. He said that each dispensation head, after they depart this life heads up the principalities during that dispensation. I asked if his title was Phinuel. He said yes, that it means Angel of the Gate or Guardian to

-

²⁴ This experience I plan to share in a forthcoming book.

Heaven. His calling is a busy one for he covers much ground. He is the administrator of the First Heaven, or realm of the just. It is where just men and women who have received their baptism of fire dwell. Also those who have accepted Christ and are waiting for baptism. After they or any spirit has received baptism they can call out to God and receive their Gift of the Holy Ghost while in Paradise. (2nd Estate beings)

He showed me how the First Heaven, or paradise, is like another dimension with buildings, gardens and places. People dwell there in peace and rest from their cares of the world. In the Nexus (Spirit world) there are billions of spirits of the seed of men. I saw that most of their family units protect their seed and are born again into families, often bringing the same sins generation after generation. There are also families protected by sons of perdition that provide bodies for evil spirits. There are thousands of such seed in the world today.

There are two other kinds of family units. These are those of the seed of men who have expressed a desire to receive the blessings of Abraham, to become the House of Israel. These are placed in humble circumstances where they can be born on earth and receive the gospel. Such will be the case with many before the end comes.

The last category are the literal seed of Adam. These spirits are escorted by the angels, both the powers (warriors) and the guardians to their homes where they are protected and nurtured to have an experience that will lead them to the truth. As long as their desires are to find God, they are placed in such families. Once a second estate being is quickened in the spirit (Gift of the Holy Ghost) they do not come down again in this world in the flesh.

Joseph also showed me that they watch closely the affairs of men, to see whether they are ripe in iniquity. The world is close to this point. He showed me many cities around the globe from an aerial vantage point. I recognized (Edit)²⁵ among these that were ripe for destruction.

Joseph gave me the impression that all the hierarchies of angels work closely with each other. It is very organized and governed by light, revelation, and love. As I said goodbye Joseph gave me a big bear hug and said, "I love you brother!" He expressed the invitation for me to come back anytime.

I spent a lot of time praising and thanking the Lord. I could hear His voice encouraging me. When I received permission to come I felt my body

⁻

²⁵ I will include more detail in the forthcoming book, "A Witness of the End of Times."

ascending into the brilliant white portal. I took my time there, longer than normal, to try and feel and see what was around me. It is brilliant white and twisting in what feels like a counter clock direction. I felt that I was not alone, although I didn't see anyone else. There seemed to be life all around me. As I ascended it felt like I got sucked into a tunnel of light and immediately found myself coming through the brilliant entrance to the Throne.

I knew that today I would be learning about angels to a greater degree, so I tried to be as observant from the first step to see if I could see anything new. I felt the solid ground under my feet, but it is not heavy. I feel tremendously light, but I don't feel like a spirit. There were four angels with white hair standing around the entrance. One particular on my right bowed and welcomed me. His smile is wide and he's tall. Another angel acknowledged me and they both gestured toward the Throne in the distance where the Lord was waiting. It seemed to be about 50 yards in the distance. As I focus my attention on the Throne where I know He is, I find myself moving extremely fast until I am right in front of the Lord. I see Him sitting in His glory looking at me with a smile. He said how happy He was that I am coming often and how much He loved me. I saw him stand effortlessly and approach me. I was feeling emotional and deeply grateful. The Lord held my hands and hugged me. I didn't want to go anywhere or leave that moment, so I just looked at

Him and didn't say anything. He is very patient. He smiled and it seemed he was willing to wait as long as I wanted, if it were hours.

After a minute or so I said that I was here to learn about the Cherubim and the Virtues that I had been taught somewhat about a few months ago; this was my desire to study. He asked, "Who should be your guide?" I had no idea, and was confused by the question. He then asked, "Who would you like to be your guide?" As I was thinking, a man appeared to my left, and I looked at him to see that it was my brother, who had passed away many years ago. The Savior said, "What do you think?" I started to cry and thank my Lord again.

My brother stepped forward and hugged me. He is about my height and I feel so much love and bonding with him. He feels strong and solid. His hair was sandy brown, his eyes are clear and blue. His smile is big and he sure looks like my brother. (He died when he was seven years old.) His personality is relaxed and cheerful. I expressed as I have done before how much I missed him and love him. He said he misses me and the family too, but he sees us often, so its probably harder for me than it is for him. I asked about his wife again and he kind of laughed. He said she's a lot like your wife and I would be amazed when I meet her, but I can't yet. I asked how he was able to do this for me when he works with the Principalities of Angels and he said

he has done much with the other angels and had permission to do this.

He then said how blessed I was to be able to come while still in mortality and learn all these things. To his knowledge, he had not seen this before to the degree I was given permission. My brother again said I had a holy calling and that I would teach much and do a work in helping to prepare the people.

I said to my brother that I wanted to learn as much I could. He told me to ask as many questions as I desired. I asked about the portal door entering the Throne and whether there were other doors. He said there were many, that each door coincided with different types of visitors. There were doors for the angels, doors for 4th estate beings, creatures, accusers and their escorts, and for those coming like me to the Throne for their first or beginning times.

We kind of walked or flew around the open portal, which is just light. I saw portals above and below, each with angels greeting those who came. All of them were dressed in white and had white hair.

I asked how many angels were here and he said there are tens of thousands. They rotate and change regularly. "Why do they raise their hands and sing like that?" I asked. My brother said, "They are praying to the Lord, and like you are having personal experiences with Him. Some are talking with Him and others are being shown visions. They are given additional light and knowledge to prepare them for what they will do." He then explained that all who come here are considered Cherubim and are among the Church of the Firstborn. Most of them come alone, but there are couples too. I then looked far off to my right and saw animals and even birds coming out of a portal. "What is that?" I asked. He said that some of the holiest creatures are allowed to come here and worship with the angels and receive similar blessings.

I was trying to think of any question I could and asked if there were many minorities amongst the angels. Yes, there are black, dark skinned and others. Often, they are those who have been adopted into the House of Israel and they don't change their skin color usually. Just like there are dark haired angels, there are all colors. Their glory is such that they are filled with light.

I then noticed portals that came straight up instead of from the side like the one I had entered. I saw a dark spirit escorted by two large warrior angels. I knew what it was because I had been shown this previously how these spirits are allowed to come to accuse others and lay claim on their souls. I'm not sure how that works, perhaps I was told before and I can't remember. What was interesting is that these dark spirits cannot behold the full glory of the Throne and the other angels don't notice them.

They are as if hidden in a cloud and only see the Lord and their escorts.

I asked my brother who all the many thousands more angels I saw worshipping where the Father and Mother were, and was told that they are the Just Men and Women Made Perfect. The 144k from each world who are doing the same thing there that I see here. Most of them do so as couples. (72,000 of each sex) I found this fascinating and I imagine this is a pattern, but as of yet, I have only gone as far as Father's Throne.

At one point, he mentioned that his hair was white when he worked among the Cherubim. He then smiled and showed me how it looked white, just by moving his hands over his hair it changed, and then he changed it back again. I asked if he had ever had a dangerous situation while serving here or knew of one. He said no, that no darkness can come here unfettered and that only those who are clean every whit can stand at the Throne.

I asked if ever anything humorous happened here. He smiled and I saw a vision of things as he talked. He said sometimes people react differently to being at the Throne for the first time. Some will jump around and swing their arms. Some will fall into a ball and yell. He said usually what they do is throw an added measure of light upon them to help them feel comfortable. (This is what happened to me the

first time I came.) Usually this is not needed after they return. Some are so overcome that they don't move forward for fear. Usually people from the mortal world are shocked but keep their composure.

At some point during the conversation it was explained to me that the Lord's creations were endless, but that our earth was the point of focus. My brother confirmed that there were about (Edit) spirits of Adam that are moving through their progression and this is where the Lord focuses the angel's attention. There are numerous other people of the seed of men also being watched and provided for.

I asked my brother about the meaning of the word "firmament." He said that between each realm is a gate or portal and a barrier that prevents any that are unprepared to pass. This barrier is the firmament. The portals are like great wheels. There is one that separates the first estate from the mortal world, the spirit world from the First Heaven (paradise), the First Heaven from The Second Heaven (The Room), and the portal to the Third Heaven, or the Throne.

I remembered in the Book of Revelation the talk of the four angels over the four corners of the earth and felt to ask John about that.

114

John / Uriel – over the spirits of the damned, (Sons of Perdition and dark spirits) holds the keys to the bottomless pit. (Earth)

Adam / Michael – over the spirits of the just. The Head over all the archangels (Wind)

Enoch / Raphael – over the elements of the earth. Translation of the elements (Fire)

Noah / Gabriel – over the firmaments - portals between realms, head archangel of the Cherubim Hierarchy of angels (Water)

The Creation

It was the eighth time I came to the Lord that I began to be taught regarding the creation. This new knowledge changed much of the way I view the model of the universe and science in general. God is far beyond our understanding; therefore, I feel that my explanations may be less than adequate.

I asked the Lord if I could go on a chariot ride. I'm not sure why I did that. In retrospect, it seems a little precocious, but the Lord has never seemed disappointed with my questions or desires. His countenance changed to one of excitement and joy as he smiled wide and immediately it was as if we descended to a place where a chariot stood waiting. We stood together on a vehicle resembling a chariot made of gold with fine sculpted design and beauty. I didn't study it, though I would like to in the future. It was shaped like a cup, about ten feet around, with what seemed to be an open top. I grabbed hold of the side as it took off. It didn't seem to have a gravity motion, yet I sensed the rate of speed and it made a

-

²⁶ I actually remember reading a book where a modern man claimed to be taken with the Lord in a chariot. This thought triggered my faith to ask the Lord. For this same reason, I have shared much of these experiences, as you too will be encouraged to seek, ask, and expand your knowledge of the heavenly realm.

rushing sound, like a waterfall. In a strange way, it resembled being on a roller coaster. We were traveling a great rate of speed through our own solar system. We flew around Saturn near the halo. I saw the big chunks of ice or rock as we got close, then around Jupiter. We were flying all over the place. At first I was a little scared and gripped the side, but then I realized that I could stand erect and Yeshua was right next to me, hands at his side, smiling as he watched my reaction to everything. We then flew into the planet Jupiter and out again. It was not limited to gravity or mass.

At one point in the vision I saw the planets extending out for what looked like infinity and it literally looked like the sand of the sea and I heard the words, "And my creation is forever, but it is your earth in which you shall focus your attention."

I perceived that there was a hollow space in many of the planets and asked God about this. I was shown that all planets are made of water and elements that come together and as they do a crust is formed both within and without. I was shown that our own bodies are similar in that they are mostly water with a shell both within and without and like we have a stomach, colon, and other openings, so do the planets. The earth is the same. I can't remember the order of all that was shown to me, but I perceived that the earth, like us—as I already knew, is alive and feeling. The many souls that live upon her can

have an affect like germs upon the the body and when there is enough wickedness it causes her to feel sick. She has had periods of health and great discomfort. She looks forward to her "Baptism of Fire" and cleansing. She is an angel too, meaning she is under covenant to perform a specific mission and will be glorified upon its fulfillment.

We flew around the earth and the moon. On the dark side of the moon I saw structures and light and perceived that there was life there. I felt to ask about aliens from space and the Lord looked at me smiling, like he was waiting for me to ask the question. I had been told during our long conversation this morning that it was a governing law of heaven that NOTHING is revealed until we ask for the truth and knowledge related to the question. We must search all things. So, I asked and was shown what this mystery was.

Around the galaxy, on the outer edge are all the planets that reside in a Telestial sphere. Satan has dominion here and some of these planets have great technology and knowledge, more than we experience on earth. These creatures, in alliance with Satan come to earth to be involved with his works. They know that their limits are set and they will have consequences if they break their rules, yet they are allowed to afflict the wicked and to have communication with Sons of Perdition who are upon the earth in the flesh. They are demons. They

are evil. They hover over the earth and are the ones who make habitation on the dark side of the moon and other places in our solar system. But, as there is opposition in all things, there are also good aliens from other places who come here. They are not as many, but act as a balance against the others.

When I inquired about crop circles I was told that these are like graffiti left by these visitors for the purpose of relaying messages to their partners or enemies regarding their territory and intentions. They write in a type of language using geometry, knowing that by doing so, we cannot discern who they are and still keep within the bounds the Lord has set upon them. As we draw closer to the closing days of the earth, these aliens will be given more power and be allowed to do more things, because God's servants will be more active in using the powers of Heaven on earth, and there must always be opposition in all things. Their role is minimal in God's plan, and therefore we are not to worry about them.

I don't remember at what point I saw this, but I was shown the galaxy in which we reside and it was explained that there is order in all things and no space where there is no space. God's throne is at the center and Kolob was next to Him. If we look to the center of our galaxy we would see God's Throne, but we cannot see because there is dark matter, or a veil

of sorts that keeps the natural eye from penetrating to its glory.

I saw the creation of the earth as He gathered the waters together, liking rolling dough and then the crust was made and dry ground was there.

I said to the Lord that I felt I needed to understand better the things regarding the planets. Is our sun in the solar system an exalted planet? The Lord said it was a 5th Estate creation. It is an angel, or covenant being of the planetary realm. I was told that the planets and heavenly bodies are almost a perfect mirror image of the exalted Sons and Daughters of God. Here is where things became a little confusing to me, but this is what I saw. God goes out to the Darkness beyond the Telestial realm and begins to create from the intelligence and matter that exist there. This is where the planets and spirits of all creation are manifested. They are First Estate. They are then brought into order when the stars and families are created. Planetary matter is separated like all other life and in different degrees of intelligence. There are suns, planets, moons, comets, asteroids, and all kinds of matter. There comes a time when a Celestial Sun is brought near them and they follow or attach themselves to it. These 5th Estate Suns move around the galaxy, as the higher order of suns get closer and closer to the center where resides the greatest of them all. These

suns grow in glory from 5th to 6th to 7th and finally a 8th estate planet or Sun. Planets are 1-4 estate beings.

I asked about how this earth is able to go from a Terrestrial Glory to a Telestial glory and things started to get confusing. When the Earth condescended from a being of light to a Telestial being, it left behind its glory and was born again like we are. It inhabited a new planet and the planet came to life. Atmosphere and water appeared. Plants and seeds were brought to the planet by other angels to help it to thrive. In time, animals, creatures and humans were brought to it. I saw this as a combined effort by other beings from other planets. ²⁷

I saw that when this earth is exalted it will be touched by a planet of greater glory, (City of Enoch) and will be consumed in fire. It will rise again Terrestrial as before, and eventually become a great 5th Estate Sun. It will be larger than its current size and there will be a new heaven and a new earth. Our current sun will move closer to the center of the galaxy and grow in size and glory. The planets that are now a part of this solar system will be released and either go to another sun or stay in darkness.

-

²⁷ Moses 2:20-31

Eventually some will awaken and bear life.²⁸ Things happen rather quickly, and you may say cataclysmically.

I asked the Lord about galaxies and dimensions. I was shown that galaxies span out from older galaxies. There are mirror images of light and dark realms, meaning that Satan's realm exists under and behind the Lord's dominion. ²⁹ This is outer darkness. His dark realm has planets, creations and kingdom's, but without glory.

I saw that as new worlds become exalted, and return to their own sun, glory, they follow the pattern of the exalted Sons of God. When we are finally crowned as the Eternal Father and Mother, an 8th Estate Being, we are beyond this galaxy in which we watch all the creations beneath us. All galaxies are stacked one upon another. The Galaxies and dominions above us have many galaxies beneath them which are the new realms. It is an infinite progression.

The Lord said that as I ponder, all this will make more sense. More question would come to my mind and I would be taught more.

-

²⁸ Revelation 12:1-2, More information can be found in reading "Translation of the Book of Revelation," purerevelations.wordpress.com

²⁹ 2 Nephi 2:11-18

I asked about other creations or creatures. What about all the different humanoid creatures? Where do they come from? If Elohim is the greatest of all, how can these also be His sons? It was interesting what I was shown. The Lord made it clear that when creation takes place, often the intelligence chooses its form and what it desires to be. There are some who desire to be different than the Father. There are many lower estate beings who are handled by the gods who are not to the level of Elohim or the Eternal Father. The Throne where Christ and the Father are do not entertain such beings. These different creatures are mostly Telestial beings. Many are prone to follow the Adversary, but not all. They consist of every type you can imagine. Every thought which is conceivable to man is based on a reality that truly exists. It may not be an exact translation, but it is based on a reality somewhere in the Universe.

I saw many of these creatures and glimpses of their worlds. It was amazing, unearthly, and yet I saw similarities. I saw lush vegetation, swamps, deserts, mountains, different colored planets. I saw strange creatures. All was as different as you could imagine. There was great beauty in the variety of these worlds. I saw that many of these worlds were telestial and would never move beyond that. Many of their inhabitants were interested in Lucifer's ways to get gain and self-gratification. The technology on

some of them were far beyond our own. They also have great knowledge of the angelic realms and understand the rules. Most all of these creations exist in the outer part of the galaxy where the Telestial realms are. The more you move inside the galaxy the more the glory grows and these beings cannot abide that glory. It's like many suns combined. I hope I'm getting all this right, because I'm trying to explain what I saw and understood with my own understanding. I will need to go back and clarify more. I saw that there was a formula for dividing the stars and moons and rotations for exalted planets, like the earth. All things are done in great order. These are the holy planets and the "aliens" know they must tread carefully. To the extent that wickedness reigns they are given permission to be involved. They cannot touch the Sons of God or will face great cursing upon themselves.

I thanked the Lord for what He showed me. I felt bewildered of it all. He said not to worry, I would understand more as I study and ponder these things.

I thought to ask about Kokobeam, as I remember the name mentioned in Joseph's explanations of the Heavens and was told it is one of the spheres near God, a 7th estate planet, like the Great Jehovah among the planetary angels.³⁰

I'm returning to add a portion which I had forgotten. I was given the name of the Throne planet, which is Koholo.³¹ The Seventh Estate planet is Koholahim. Kokaubeam is the high estates planets, which we call suns.

My next question was mind bending. I asked, "Why does everything exist?" The Lord said that would be best answered if I began asking questions more specifically? I asked, "Was there a first, a beginning?" The answer was, no. Why is there no beginning? He said that it is the nature of the universe (everything) to be alive. It has no end or beginning. He showed me something that reminded me of the two facing mirrors that reflect for eternity. They go in two opposite directions and bend around a corner until you cannot see the end. Intelligence was never created, it is self-existing, either to act or be acted upon. There is an infinity of space and dimension, and all matter exists to either attract or repel. If it is attracted to the light it will begin to evolve into something by force of will of a higher being. Once this process begins it will continue to evolve for eternity, either toward greater light or down toward greater darkness. The Fathers ascend

.

³⁰ Abraham 3:2

³¹ The second "ho" sound is almost silent when pronounced. Like an extended "o" yowel.

forever, but it is well for us, for we will have joy in our posterity. Perhaps it is beyond my comprehension to see more. This was all that was given.

Today I had many questions to ask my Lord. When I came to the Throne He arose and we walked toward the right (my right) and entered His Garden. I have been there before. There is a covered portico that stretched out a great distance. Along this path to the right are great sculptures in white stone that depict His great servants that have sacrificed for the Kingdom. As we walked together He knew my heart. I said, "Lord, I am so weak. I wish I could be perfect always." He looked at me and said that each of these great men and women struggled with weakness of the flesh, but they were strengthened and by their faith did great works for the kingdom. He emphasized His faith in me and what I was doing. It made me feel good in my heart.

I began my questions: I asked if the Eternal Father was the God of all the universe or just our galaxy. It was explained to me that He is the God of all creation. When we see, the small galaxies spotting the endless sky (Hubble telescope) we are seeing the endless creation of the Eternal Father. It is innumerable to us, but He knows all His creation. The Eternal Father and Son rule over these creations. The Temporal Father rules over our

galaxy. There is a system there. But there are many dimensions, without number, which are like this. This is quite mind boggling. I saw a vision unfold where I saw what seemed to be simultaneous visions at the same time. One was moving outward from myself into the vastness of space emphasizing the smallness of my body in the cosmos. The other was moving inward to the cells, and then the subatomic level of creation. This seemed to also go on forever. No space where there is no space. The intelligence that exists in space is like dust, forever blowing and going hither and thither as they say. Not until God imposes His will upon it does it begin to become something. It is a wonderful thing to see.

I checked with the Lord on the names of the Heavenly bodies and realms. Did I understand all this correctly? The Lord said that Joseph was correct. The moon is Olea, 32 which is pronounced Ohleyah. And the sun is Shinehah. But the place where the exalted servants of God dwell that are of the Dominions dwell is Shaphinu-im, a place on the sun. Kokaub is star, and Kokaubeam is the great stars of the higher order closer to God. Kolob is the great Mother sphere, or Eden that stands in the Heavens next to the Throne planet, which is Koholo. The galaxy which we reside is Gnolaum, and the Universe is called, Gnolauhim. This is what the Lord said to me as we stood talking beside His Throne. It was casual as one man talks with another. He smiles

_

³² Abraham 3:13

and I feel His love and interest in my questions. His voice is projected into my mind and I never see His mouth voice the words. There is perfect understanding and when I struggle a vision usually opens up to explain. It is a flawless communication.

The Beginning

In the Heavenly Realm the Lord expects us to ask questions. I never felt prohibited or inhibited to ask anything; this seems to be expected and even encouraged. Perhaps some of the most important questions are: "Who am I? Where did I come from?"

With a lot of these visits it would be clear and physical and then it would blur. I would feel like I was phasing in and out.³³ I would need to focus. If the visual phased out I could still hear them speaking. Everything was happening so fast. I'm sure I didn't remember everything, but I wrote as much as I could remember. Thank you Lord for showing me so much, and Melek too.

I then asked about the creation of our spirits. Is there intimacy involved? In this case, "No." I saw that Father and Mother stand together beyond the firmament and invite the intelligence to come forth. Depending on how they react they are organized male and female into spirit tabernacles.³⁴

-

³³ Reminded me of Paul's description: 1 Corinthians 13:2

³⁴ Moses 2:1-5, refer to "Translation of Book of Moses," available at purerevelation.wordpress.com

I asked the Lord if they come forth as babies and was shown that just as all things are created from thought, so too are these spirit children born into perfectly formed adult bodies, male and female. They come forth innocent, without knowledge. They have their own unique bodies and are clothed in white. They smile and express emotion, but know nothing like a newborn baby.

Immediately they are escorted to where they begin their training, beginning with the virtues of hope and faith.³⁵ I imagine there is a process of learning basic things, but I didn't see that. Mother and Father spend much time while they visit their children in this Paradise located on the world which will be their home. They are able to do all these things through the Patriarchal Priesthood.

Before I was done with my questions I asked the Lord if there was anything He wanted to show me that would be helpful for me to know. I was open to anything He wanted me to learn about. He smiled big and I was holding His arm as we descended rapidly to some place I didn't know. I saw myself standing in the central part of the same chariot we had ridden together months ago, when the Lord showed me a tour of the solar system. As we launched off in the chariot, moving at an incredible speed, I had more confidence this time and stood on

_

³⁵ Page 90-91 of this book.

my own, almost standing straight, next to my Lord. I can feel the velocity and speed, yet I have no trouble standing upright in the platform. I sense the Lord is enjoying the whole time with me.

We arrived at a colorful nebula with planets and fire. I looked at this with awe. It reminded me of something out of a science fiction movie. It was moving and alive. The Lord said that all things are spiritually before they are physically. He said that this is the beginning of creation. He said that when God the Father creates the spirit children they come forth as a male and female, like twins, and then just like children must be taught all things. At the same time the children are given tabernacles in the image of God, the world and animals are also created. These abide in a spiritual realm in a different dimension than the telestial we see. These children are taught by the Spirits of the Lord, or the Virtue Angels and like Adam and Eve in the Garden are given much knowledge to prepare them. God the Father and the Only Begotten spend time with them to teach and prepare. It is a beautiful experience, but they do not comprehend the experience of mortality, and when it is time they can come forth and have bodies.

The Lord said that much of this is done during the Millennium when new worlds are created and the Spirits or Children of Adam are prepared. The Lord said that He personally created this world in its

physical state and many more worlds in their spiritual state. He is indeed the creator of this world and His creations are endless. When Yeshua has his own spirit children ready they will be born onto many worlds which he has prepared through His Only Begotten, to populate with His children. This was a major missing piece to the puzzle and I am grateful for the understanding.

The part of the creation I saw in this vision was Heavenly Father and Mother facing each other as new spirits passed between them, housed in tabernacles of God's image. This is not the whole process, but what I saw.

I said I had my questions ready, and He smiled. I asked the Lord if I could see the full creation process. I have seen much before, but I feel there is more. He said, "What do you want to see?" I asked to see the creation of the world. I saw a dark void. The Lord said that He created the world, under the direction of the Great Jehovah and Michael. He called out to the intelligences, and by His word they began to act. He would watch until they obeyed. At first it looked like a huge wave. The intelligence is light, but the matter would attach itself and become temporal. Eventually it began to roll together. (like bread dough) Then, it would become round. After

³⁶ Isaiah 45:7-8

time a crust would form and after thousands of years when ready, the breath of life would enter (its spirit) and a world with atmosphere and beauty would ensue. This is the beginning of the process.³⁷

I asked about physical beings. Father and Mother do this, as they go out to the same area of darkness. I saw what was called "points of light" approaching Mother and Father. By their great faith, they qualified to become sons and daughters of light, born in the image of our Heavenly Parents, male and female, like twins, they pass between our parents to a new estate. They are innocent and beautiful.

The animals are created, by design, by the 4th estate beings, under the direction and approval of Father and Mother. All of creation takes place in the outer realm of the galaxies where the darkness abides.

I thanked Him and expressed my love and gratitude as I stood facing me, smiling. His countenance is striking and yet gentle.

I wanted to understand more clearly how the galaxy is divided. There are 144 thousand anointed ones among those who serve the Lord, which include females. Each of these has the potential to move to the 5th estate (Edit). The Lord said that He is the

-

³⁷ Moses 3:5, Genesis 6:1

creator of billions of worlds. The day will come when His dominion will split off and form a separate galaxy as it expands too.

I asked about black holes and this opened up a lot of things I didn't know. The science books say that a black hole is an incredibly dense sun whose gravity is so intense it allows no light to escape. This is not what was shown to me. I saw that these "funnels of light" are actually portals that either ascend or condescend to other dimensions. The big ones transfer planetary angels as well as all else. There is one at the center of the galaxy that ascends to the Great Jehovah, and it also descends to the Great Lord of Darkness. Throughout the galaxy are smaller gates which do the same thing.

The Telestial realm is where many different beings interact and make choices that lead to darkness or light.

I then asked if I could better understand intelligence that is spoken of as our first existence, that which cannot be created. I was told that in the ocean of space is an infinite amount of intelligence. It has the capacity to either act or be acted upon.³⁸ Not all intelligence is the same, some are like gold, pure and holy, with the capacity to do much, and then it breaks down into other levels of worth. Every point

134

³⁸ D&C 93:29-30, Abraham 3:18-19

of light (intelligence) has both a positive and a negative energy, a yin and yang. Both are good, negative not meaning bad. When we are created in the image of Father and Mother and given a spirit tabernacle we are created male and female.³⁹ These are not mates, more like brother and sister twins. It is not customary that these spirits become companions for eternity, but often have close bonds that continue.

I asked some things about the creation process in this universe. Is there creation in the dark realm? The Lord said that amongst the intelligence are different kinds, both the kind that act and that are acted upon. There is creation in the dark realm, but it is by force, to act upon. There is no glory like the kind you see in Heaven. The light is pale, like neon lights. It is dark and these creations live in constant fear with the wailing and gnashing of teeth where vengeance and wrath control all things.

I asked the Lord how it works when He ascends to another estate. He said that the glories and suns that are amongst His dominion will open a new galaxy and begin to expand. These will enter through the gate or portal (black hole) and fan out as a new universe under the Father is created. A new dimension will begin.

_

³⁹ D&C 20:18

The Tree of Life

I then asked the Lord about the Tree of Life that my wife had mentioned to me yesterday, which she saw in vision. The Lord showed me that it was below and behind His throne; it is large and beautiful, and represents His love. I saw my wife and I eating the fruit; which we did a while back, and were told that the seed of the fruit was within us. Some day we will have our own tree, which we will share with our children. It represents the continuation of our seed and the beauty of Eternal Life. I asked the Lord if He would help me to understand more and to learn more of Lehi's vision and was told that I could come back and do this. I am so blessed!

I asked the Lord if I could learn more about the Tree of Life and Lehi's dream. I saw the Tree again in detail and studied it closer. The Lord said that it was His tree and represented His love to all His children who would partake of Eternal Life. It is freely given, but few are willing to partake. The bark of the tree was like gold and the leaves are gold. The fruit is white, yet seems to be wrapped in a husk of sorts. The fruit is about the size of a grapefruit and is very white and sweet to the taste; it brought great joy as I ate it. I was reminded that my wife and I both have eaten of this fruit and that its seeds are inside of us. Some day we will have our own tree that we may

share our love with our posterity. Beneath its roots sprang clear water. I drank of it and it too was sweet to the taste. So much joy!

I saw another part of the vision of Lehi⁴⁰ and noticed a heavy rod of iron along a path. There were people on the path, but not holding to the rod. They seemed disoriented and some walked off and were lost. There was a river which was dirty and when anyone fell in it they became dark and were lost. I was told this represented succumbing fully to the adversary. As people, would grab hold of the rod they would increase in light. I was told that this represents much more than scripture, but the literal Word of God, as they receive personal revelation that will lead them to encounter the Savior and make covenants necessary to receive Eternal Life. I was told that both a husband and wife must partake of the fruit to receive the full blessing. Some, after taking the fruit are tempted by the great and spacious building, which is Lucifer and the church of the devil. To do so after partaking of the fruit is to become a Son of Perdition.

The vision was interesting in that those who were walking the path did not seem to see the iron rod or the tree. Not until they got on the path and grabbed hold of the rod did they find their way. I felt sorry for those who could not find their way. God seemed to say that as many as desire to find Him are lead to

^{40. 1} Nephi 8, 11

the path and as they seek they can grab hold of the rod. The tree is like heaven.

I asked when is the Tree of Life planted at the Throne. I was shown how it is planted in the Garden of Eden when we begin our fifth estate. 41 When we are crowned as Kings and Queens after overcoming all things, our Throne is established and our Tree is fully grown and present in its full glory at the Throne, as is the Lord's which I saw.

٠

⁴¹ Genesis 2:1, 3:2, Moses 3:1, 4:2, Abraham 5:1

The Father

The Lord introduced me to the Father on my second visit with Him. I thought it was interesting that it didn't happen until I asked. This seems to be a principle in Heaven that leads to all knowledge. The following are various journal entries of meeting with the Father.

I then felt inspired to ask the unthinkable. "Lord, may I see the Father?' Jesus smiled and said, "Of course!"

I then seemed to pass quickly through some kind of wall or dimension and saw Father standing upon a platform of sorts. He was by Himself and there were radiant beams pulsating from him. I had never seen anything like it. It was light and fire and water all in one. (visually speaking) He came to me and hugged me. I was told some things I can't remember, but he said I could visit Him anytime. I sensed that there was no time constraint with them. Time was irrelevant, but there is no wasted time. Every moment has value.

What is surprising to me is how comfortable and natural the experience seemed to be. Like coming home, the familiarity seemed sublime and effortless. I have always expected it to be more

cataclysmic in its scale of experience, for lack of a better word. I am determined to continue seeking Him, coming to Him, visiting Him, and even chasing Him to know Him more intimately. Every time I go I will look more closely and ask more intensively, and feel more profoundly. This is the greatest form of worship ever! Thank you, dear Lord!

I asked again if I could see the Father. He smiled as I was walking again where I had seen Him yesterday, on the platform. This time I was further away, so I could see a little more. It was like an outdoor temple of amber, yet filled with light. I quickly approached the Father and He again greeted me happily. He is so full of energy and love. His whole countenance radiates joy, as does Jesus'. The Father looks a little different to me than Yeshua, perhaps the shape of his face and hair style. I asked for a blessing. He laid his hands on my head and said things similar to what Yeshua said. I can't remember all the words. It was very loving and gentle. I then asked the unthinkable. (I'm very bold when I'm in the spirit I guess.)

I asked the Lord if I should visit with Father and Mother and ask them any of this? He smiled and nodded. I passed through a wall or something and saw myself before the Father. He smiled and embraced me. The pulsating energy around Him is tangible. It was as I remembered before. He smiled

and we embraced. He looks different than Jesus. I thanked Him for allowing me to come to Him. His glory is unfathomable. I asked my question, "When is it appropriate for me to come to thee, Father?" He said there were questions that I should ask Him. He said I could learn about sealing power partly from Him. Anything to do with the patriarchal priesthood and some of the deeper mysteries I could ask Him. He said asking questions is good and I am always welcome.

I asked the Lord whether anyone should pray to Mary, his helpmeet, or how that works. He said that we are to pray to the Father. Mary is there to assist the sisters in learning their divine role as mothers and helpmeets. She should be approached through Him and not as a substitute.

The Lord was so vivid and beautiful as I looked upon Him. He would smile and show a lot of expression as I asked questions. I didn't see His mouth move to the words, but would hear Him speaking clearly in my mind. His robes are so white and amazing. So much detail and beauty. He was wearing a golden sash this time, whereas usually it is white. I asked Him when it would be appropriate to meet with Heavenly Father. What should I ask Him? The Lord said that I could ask Him anything, but I should ask about light and about being a servant.

I then found myself ascending upward and like coming through a wall found myself engulfed in unimaginable power. It was like pulsating water, but it was more like energy. My ears felt funny for a second. The colors are blazing white with amber. It is so hard to describe. My eyes seemed to acclimate and I saw a figure before me that I knew was the Father. He warmly embraced me and smiled like any Father would do. It was so comfortable and kind. I looked around and saw what almost seemed like a sea of angels in all directions praising. He stood on a platform with a roof of sorts. I don't know what the structure was, but it seemed to be only a part of a larger edifice.

I told Him I came to ask some questions; the Son had recommended I ask Him certain questions. He seemed so pleased and smiled. I expressed my desire to be a servant and do much good in helping to save the House of Israel. Father seemed overjoyed with my question. He said I must fill myself with light. Everywhere I go I must expand my light and love to all around. I should continue to exercise this spiritual awareness as I have been doing. I must exercise faith, see it, expand it, live it. All things are possible if I will reach for the light. I need to ponder these things.

I left the Father and returned to the Lord, Jesus. He was patiently waiting for me. He smiled. I thanked him with all my heart. I said I would go now and

write all I could remember. I asked Him to please help me to remember as much as possible. I expressed my deepest love and gratitude. I have learned so much today.

I asked about Father. Why is He always standing when I go to His place, but the Lord is sitting on His Throne when I go there. He said that Father prefers to stand. During the conversation, I expressed my curiosity about Father's Throne and the Lord said I should ask the Father to give me a tour the next time I am there. Now that's an invitation! I wonder what I will see since I have only seen the place where he stands.

I asked about the proper way to pray, whether to Him or the Father. He said, as I suspected, that when I am born again He becomes my Father. But when we are in a group we pray to Heavenly Father, because it is through Him that we are led to receive the Baptism of Fire. Therefore, unless all among us are already in the Church of the Firstborn we should pray to Heavenly Father in His name. Or, sometimes the Spirit will tell us to pray to Father, even if He is in our midst. We cannot do wrong in this way. The Spirit will tell you who to pray to.

The Mother

Through my experiences in the Heavenly Realm I have been blessed with a clearer understanding of the role of women. I have written here what I am permitted to share.

"Lord, may I see Mother?"

The Father stepped back with His hand out gesturing and then Mother appeared, as if from behind a wall. Both were smiling widely. Her hair was like silver white, she was very beautiful and it was as if I had known her forever, without interruption. She hugged me and I saw her face. It was full of joy and clarity. Her smile was wide and her face oval. She wore a sash of sorts, kind of purple, that seemed to have moving stars or galaxies on them. Through all of this, I would see clearly, then it would blur, as if I moved my head. It seems to always be this way when I'm experiencing, yet some things, when revisited, are more vivid than the previous encounter.

I asked Mother, (Edit), and she seemed pleased that I knew this. I asked if I could see Grandfather?? The Father of us all. I can't believe I asked that! She said I could not until I had been anointed a King and overcome all things in this life. They seemed pleased

that I had asked. I then asked if she was the Holy Spirit and was told that both she and Father play that role, they both influence and guide all creation, but that her role is one of nurturing, and testifying. I truly sensed that she and Father are together all the time. I felt satisfied and full of joy. Then I seemed to be turned around and saw what was to my back. It was an immense space filled with countless angels. The light was gold and white and endless. I could hear the singing, and as before it was like harmonics that carried glory and light and praise. I will need to ask about this to understand.

I am again in my closet, sitting on the floor, and pondering what had just occurred. My eyes were wet and I felt amazed that the Lord had opened up to me this way. None of this is what I expected. I thought it would be more crazy, but it feels so comfortable and gentle.

I asked what would be appropriate to ask Mother? He stretched out His hand and Mother came toward me. She hugged me and smiled widely. It was surreal. She is glorious and looked much the same as I remembered from the last visit. I mentioned (Edit) "Mother, when is it appropriate to come to thee?" She said that after we've had our Second Comforter and been introduced to Father we can come. She can teach us anything we choose to ask. Before this, she can come in vision or through the

pillar of fire⁴² to bestow blessings and gifts. This she does often. (Edit) It is a similitude of the real thing in Heaven. On Earth, we partake of the Sacrament, in Heaven it is a patriarchal order that will be shown hereafter.

I have remembered how each time Mother has come there has been a pillar of fire, like white fire or glory that surrounds the people. It sounds like rushing water and then she, Father, and Son may come. Mother will often move about, like dancing, bestowing gifts, and blesses the tops of heads, sealing with a kiss. It is quite interesting and different than how Father and Jesus interact.

As I turned to leave, again I noticed what seemed like an endless number of angels singing praises to the Father and Mother. It seemed so odd that I didn't notice them when I was facing Father and Mother.

I then asked the Lord if I could ask about the stars or galaxies I saw on Mother's light purple sash that she wore when I saw her. He smiled and said they

-

⁴² The Pillar of light or fire is like a portal which can descend into a Telestial world and allow us to commune with Heaven without leaving this realm. This is the same means by which Joseph experienced the First Vision, and how many experience resurrected beings without a full ascension.

represented the creations that are dear to her. She is considered a Mother of Creation. The top galaxy is (Edit), and the one below was our galaxy. The stars seem to move on her sash, as if they are alive or mirroring the real thing – amazing.

I asked to see Mother and she quickly appeared and hugged me and smiled so lovingly at me. Her spirit is incredible, beyond words. Father and Mother are so dynamic and energetic. When I composed, myself I talked about the time I came and asked to visit Grandfather and was told I could not. I felt to ask again, "Father, Mother, is there any way I can speak with the Great Jehovah? Is this a bad thing to wish?" They both were so happy with my request. I was told that I could see Him in vision and communicate, but not in person.

I asked if it was true that they were the heads of this galaxy, and the Eternal Father and Son are the heads of the Universe, of all things? I was told yes! "May I speak with the Great Jehovah?" At that moment, it was as if I was transported to someplace outside of time. I was so over my head. I heard a voice like the sound of great rushing waters call my name. It was Him. His hair was white. He reminded me of Jesus, but a little different. I praised Him. I felt as small as dust. (Edit) He said a few other things I cannot remember, or perhaps I'm not supposed to remember.

I then asked if it was good for me to ask to see the Eternal Father of all creation? I was given permission, but not allowed to see His face. I looked into what felt like immense light. I sensed His form, but could not see. His voice was filled with power beyond my comprehension. He was all around me and I felt comfortable, yet I felt so small; like dust on dust. I began to praise Him. He said that He knew me and I was important to Him, as if I were His only creation. His exact words were, "I know you!" When He said this my heart felt it would explode for joy.

He talked a little about the vastness of His creation and that there are Gods who are ascended above Him and beyond this dimension. The language we were using seemed so powerful. The words I cannot remember, but it was not casual language. I cannot write the power of the words and conversation. It was as if I was given the words to speak

I can't remember what happened next, but I was with my Lord Jesus again. He smiled and complimented me on my faith and was pleased. I hugged Him again. I had more questions.

About the Author

I believe we can receive *pure revelation* from God. My writings and blog contains personal experiences and revealed word that He has given to me and instructed to share.

I'm not trying to convince anybody of anything. You must decide for yourself and pray about it, and if you open your heart, your life will get interesting in a hurry.

I was instructed to keep my writing anonymous as to not distract from the information shared. If you discover my name, please keep it confidential. At some time in the future, when the Lord instructs me, I will reveal who I am.

If you need to contact me: purerevelation1@gmail.com

You may also visit my blog at:

Purerevelations.wordpress.com